




HIGHLIGHTS
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1 Letšeng, Lesotho 5 Mambéré, CAR
2 Gope, Botswana 6 Ellendale, Australia
3 Chiri, Angola 7 Cempaka, Indonesia
4 Mbelenge, Lubembe, Longatshimo, DRC

c Global diamond mining company with assets in seven countries

c Listed on LSE in February 2007 raising US$636 million

c Revenue of US$153 million

c EBITDA of US$74 million

c FTSE 250 Index company

c Targeted acquisition strategy successfully pursued

c Diversified diamond resource with in situ value of US$11.4 billion

c Three producing operations with circa 750 000 carats expected for 2008

c Positive results from diamond beneficiation trials
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Roger Davis (51)
non-Executive Chairman 

Roger spent eight years at Barclays, latterly
as the CEO of the UK banking operation and
as a member of the Board of Barclays Plc.
Under his leadership, the UK business was
significantly restructured. Prior to that he
spent ten years in investment banking in
London and various positions in China 
and India for Flemings and BZW. Roger
started his career with a 12-year service in
the British Army. He joined Gem Diamonds
in February 2007. 

Mike Salamon (53)
non-Executive Director 

Mike is a mining engineer MBA with over 30
years experience in the mining sector. He
was a founding director of Billiton and was
instrumental in this company’s IPO on 
the London Stock Exchange in 1997 and
subsequent merger with BHP in 2001. Mike
retired from his position of Executive Director
at BHP Billiton in 2006 and is now the 
Co-president of private equity fund AMCI
Capital. Mike joined Gem Diamonds in
February 2008.

Gavin Beevers (57)
non-Executive Director 

Gavin was the Director of Operations at 
De Beers from April 2000 until his retirement
in 2004. He had joined De Beers in 1979 
in Botswana for 11 years. Thereafter, he was
appointed Assistant General Manager at 
De Beers Marine in Cape Town until 1994,
whereafter he returned to Botswana as
General Manager at Orapa and Letlhakane
Mines. From January 1996 to March 2000,
Gavin held the position of Deputy Managing
Director of Debswana Diamond Company.
Gavin joined Gem Diamonds in February 2007.

Dave Elzas (41)
non-Executive Director 

Dave has over 15 years’ working experience 
in international investment banking. Between
1994 and 2000, Dave served as a senior
executive and subsequently Managing
Director of the Beny Steinmetz Group. Dave 
is currently the Senior Partner and CEO of the
Geneva Management Group, an international
wealth management and financial services
company. Dave joined Gem Diamonds in
October 2005.

Lord Robin Renwick (70)
non-Executive Director 

Lord Renwick spent the majority of his career
representing Britain in the ambassadorial
service. He served in the United States from
1991 to 1995 and in South Africa from 1987 
to 1991. He is Vice Chairman of JPMorgan
Cazenove and a non-Executive Director of
Compagnie Financière Richemont, Fluor
Corporation, Kazakhmys plc and SABMiller
plc, having previously served on the boards
of BHP Billiton, British Airways and Liberty
International. Lord Renwick joined Gem
Diamonds in September 2007.

Richard Williams MBE MC (41)
non-Executive Director 

Richard spent 20 years in the British Army,
latterly as the Commanding Officer of 22 SAS
Regiment, during which time he saw service
across the Middle East, Latin America and
Africa. Richard has an MBA from Cranfield Uni -
versity and a Masters in International Secu rity
Studies from Kings College, London. Richard
is the CEO of Chakata Ltd, an investment
management company focused on defence
and security technologies. Richard joined
Gem Diamonds in February 2008. 

Clifford Elphick (47) 
Chief Executive Officer 

Clifford joined Anglo American Corporation
in 1986 and was seconded to E Oppenheimer
and Son as Harry Oppenheimer’s personal
assistant in 1988. In 1990, he was appointed
managing director of E Oppenheimer and
Son, a position he held until leaving in
December 2004. During that time, Clifford
was also a director of Central Holdings, Anglo
American and DB Investments. Following the
buy-out of De Beers in 2000, Clifford served
on the De Beers Executive Committee.
Clifford formed Gem Diamonds in July 2005.

Alan Ashworth (53) 
Chief Operating Officer 

Alan holds a BSc in Mining Engineering and
has 32 years’ experience in the mining industry.
During his career he has worked in various

countries, including South Africa, Namibia,
Botswana, Guinea, Ghana and Russia. He spent
28 years within the De Beers group, including
four years as the General Manager of the
Namdeb Diamond Corporation and four years
as the Group Manager, Operations and Head
of Operations for DBCM. From March 2006
until August 2007, he was the Managing
Director of Gold Fields – Ghana’s operations in
West Africa. Alan joined Gem Diamonds in
November 2007 and was appointed to the
Board in April 2008.

Kevin Burford (49)
Chief Financial Officer 

Kevin has over 20 years’ experience in the
mining industry having worked for De Beers
and Anglo American between 1985 and 2005,
and Xstrata in 2005. Kevin has held various
strategic leadership positions covering finance,

supply chain, IT, risk management, internal
audit and business strategy. Kevin completed
his articles with Coopers and Lybrand in 1984
and is a registered Chartered Accountant.
Kevin joined Gem Diamonds in January 2006.

Glenn Turner (48)
Chief Legal and Commercial Officer 

Glenn was called to the Johannesburg Bar 
in 1987 where he spent 14 years practising 
as an advocate specialising in general com -
mercial and competition law, and took silk 
in 2002. Glenn was appointed De Beers’ 
first General Counsel in 2002 and was also 
a member of their Executive Committee. 
Glenn was responsible for a number of 
key initiatives during this tenure, including
overseeing their re-entry into the USA. Glenn
joined Gem Diamonds in May 2006 and was
appointed to the Board in April 2008.

NONEXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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1. Clifford Elphick 2. Roger Davis 3. Lord Renwick 4. Richard Williams 5. Glenn Turner 6. Mike Salamon
7. Graham Wheelock 8. Dave Elzas 9. Kevin Burford 10. Alan Ashworth 11. Gavin Beevers





The Letšeng mine produced very strong results throughout

the year, a highlight of which was the recovery of the 

493 carat Letšeng Legacy. The key driver of organic growth

during the year was the doubling of production capacity 

at this mine through the construction of a second processing

plant. Subsequent to year end, in April of 2008, the Company

announced the successful commencement of commissioning

of this plant. 

In Central Africa development projects were progressed.

Despite significant achievements in the development of

infrastructure and building of mines in highly challenging

environments, diamond production remained a disappoint -

ment. This issue remains high on the executive’s agenda 

for 2008. 

Targeted acquisitions enhanced Gem Diamonds’ portfolio.

In April 2007, the Company announced the acquisition of

BDI Mining, owner of the Cempaka alluvial mine in Indonesia

renowned for its high quality white and coloured diamonds.

Maintaining strategic focus, BDI Mining’s Woodlark Gold

Project was sold shortly after the acquisition. 

2007, Gem Diamonds’ first year as a listed company, was a

year of substantial progress. Founded in 2005, with seed

capital of US$10 million, Gem Diamonds rapidly grew to a

business valued at US$508 million at the time of its listing on

the LSE in February of 2007. Capital raised of US$636 million

on the IPO, brought the Company’s market capitalisation

to US$1.1 billion and placing it at number 186 in the FTSE

250 Index when this was achieved later in the year. 

Gem Diamonds’ strategic intent is to be one of the world’s

leading diamond companies with a specific focus on top

end diamonds, a segment of the market that the Company

believes will deliver superior long term returns. As the

largest pure diamond mining company quoted on a public

market today, Gem Diamonds provides its shareholders with

direct exposure to this high growth market. 

Gem Diamonds came to the market with one producing

asset in Letšeng Diamonds and a suite of development

projects in Central Africa. The Company’s growth strategy

was clearly outlined on its capital raising and 2007 saw this

strategy aggressively pursued.

Gem Diamonds’ strategic intent is to be one of the world’s leading

diamond companies with a specific focus on top end diamonds, 

a segment of the market that the Company believes will deliver superior

long term returns. 

CHAIRMAN’S
REVIEW
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Cempaka rough diamonds.
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Strategically a presence in the politically stable diamond 

rich country of Botswana was sought and when Gope

Exploration was made available for sale by De Beers and

Xstrata, the Company moved to acquire it. Gope is a well

defined kimberlite, which, with the necessary licences, will

be developed into a mine capable of producing one million

carats per annum. 

In October, the Company bought out its partners in the 

DRC, allowing for the full operational integration of these

development projects.

Kimberley Diamonds was acquired in late November 2007,

the Company’s largest acquisition to date. Located in Western

CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW continued

From left to right: Letšeng Legacy 493 cts, Cempaka processing
plant, Letšeng Mine.

Australia, Kimberley Diamonds’ Ellendale mine is a producer

of fancy and vivid yellow diamonds that have grown in

popularity with premium jewellers over the last 15 years.

With an estimated production of almost 600 000 carats in

2008 from this established and politically stable mine,

Ellendale brings critical mass and increased stability to the

Group’s production profile. 

During 2007, Terry Stewart moved from a full-time role as

Chief Operating Officer (‘COO’) to a contractual relationship

with the Group. Terry’s role in the establishment of the

Group’s operations was invaluable and I wish to thank him

personally. We were delighted to welcome Alan Ashworth

into the role of COO in November, who brings with him

extensive experience in diamond mining throughout 

the world.
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In line with this growth, the Company has strengthened its

Board. In February of 2007, Gavin Beevers and I joined the

Board as non-Executive Directors. By the third quarter, we

were joined by Lord Renwick and as per commitments made

at the time of the Company’s IPO, the roles of Chief Executive

and Chairman (both roles previously held by Clifford Elphick)

were split with my appointment as Chairman. In February of

2008, subsequent to the year end, the Board was further

enhanced with the appointment of Mike Salamon and Richard

Williams MBE MC as non-Executive Directors. The Board of Gem

Diamonds is fully Combined Code compliant.

At the Board meeting in April of 2008, senior executives Alan

Ashworth and Glenn Turner (Chief Legal and Commercial

Officer) were also appointed to the Board. Glenn has played a

strategic role in the Company since he joined in May 2006.

Simultaneously, Graham Wheelock resigned from the Board

but remains with the Company as Chief Mineral Resources

Manager. The Board and I thank Graham for his contribution

over the last year.

The Board is committed to maintaining the highest standards

of corporate governance. A detailed Corporate Governance

Report is included on pages 59 through 68. 

After a difficult 2006, the diamond market was strong in

2007. Despite the well publicised economic concerns which

emerged in 2007, demand for the Company’s diamonds has

remained high with top quality gemstones seeing price

increases in excess of 50%. This is very much in line with our

long term strategic view that it is the fine quality gemstones

that will generate long term value for shareholders. 

Prioritising the health and safety of all employees remains 

a social and financial imperative for the Group. In 2007,

operations were challenged to meet a LTIFR of 1.5. Through

the concerted efforts of management and the health 

and safety officers a LTIFR of 1.06 was achieved. Tragically,

however, there was a fatality at the Letšeng second plant

construction site.

Gem Diamonds is determined to operate to the highest

ethical and environmental standards. Every operation is

required to maintain an environmental management system

that is consistent with the requirements of the ISO 14001

International Standards. More information on the Group’s

sustainable development practises are included in the

Sustainability Report on pages 31 through 38.

It has been over seven years since the Kimberley Process

Certification Scheme was introduced to the diamond industry.

The Scheme has grown in reputation and strength whilst

contributing to the marked reduction in the trade in conflict

diamonds. Gem Diamonds is committed to the principles

behind and the processes inherent to this Scheme and 

can confirm that all diamonds sold from the Group are

Kimberley Process certified.

Gem Diamonds entered 2008 with a broad portfolio of assets

poised to deliver significantly increased diamond production

into a market where there is strong demand for its highest

quality gemstones. To supplement this, the Company has both

the financial and intellectual capital to capitalise on this unique

opportunity. I for one am delighted to be part of the team that

will lead the Company through what will be another year of

substantial progress against our strategic plan. 

Roger Davis

non-Executive Chairman
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Having listed Gem Diamonds on the LSE on 14 February 2007,

the management team’s primary aim was to deliver on the

plans outlined in the Prospectus. The objective was to grow in

scale and generate returns. To achieve this, the Company

focused on the execution of its acquisition strategy as well as

Annual Report 2007
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KEY STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 2007

1

3

In 2007, Gem Diamonds’ executives were charged with achieving the following: 

To successfully complete the listing of Gem Diamonds

To achieve the commitments made in the Prospectus in respect of operations in: 
c Lesotho  
c DRC  
c CAR

To complete the BDI Mining acquisition and subsequent integration and achieve the set 
performance targets

To complete the agreed work programme on the Chiri project in Angola

To construct and commission the Letšeng mine second plant on time 
and on budget and to the required quality

To create and implement a new business capability and agree and implement a three-year growth plan

To grow the Gem Diamonds share price in line with the FTSE 250 Index and the Company’s peer group

the development of existing assets to increase production.

Of the US$636 million raised on IPO, US$390.6 million was

utilised acquiring prospects and projects in Australia,

Botswana, the DRC and Indonesia, all of which are now

under Gem Diamonds’ control. 

Letšeng rough diamonds. 9



DIAMOND MARKET REVIEW

2007 started as a strong year for the diamond sector which,

despite the emergence of the sub prime crisis, did not

weaken as the year progressed. 

With an estimated 45% of all diamond consumption occurring

in the US, a weakening US economy represents a significant

risk to the overall industry. However, it is misleading to view

diamonds as a single commodity. 

Through 2007 and subsequently in 2008, the bottom end

of the rough and polished diamond market experienced

some difficulties and this situation is expected to continue.

However, Gem Diamonds’ production from Letšeng, with 

the highest average price per carat of any kimberlite mine,

as well as Cempaka and Ellendale, with high diamond 

value profiles, are valued at multiples of the world average.

It is this segment of the rough and polished diamond

market that performed best in 2007 and 2008 has begun

extremely positively.

According to WWW International Diamond Consultants

(‘WWW’), prices in the very top quality rough diamonds

increased by 50% to 100%, depending on size, in 2007. This

trend started in late 2006, continued through 2007 and, in

January 2008 alone, a further increase of more than 10% in

prices for top quality rough diamonds occurred.

Encouragingly, the increase in this segment of the rough

diamond market has been replicated in the polished

diamond market where there have been a stream of record

prices paid. This much was evident in the Letšeng polished

tender of January 2008 where a five carat diamond 

sold for US$133 000 per carat, exceeding what had been 

the long-standing benchmark price of US$100 000 per 

carat for a D flawless polished diamond. The increase in

polished prices for these exclusive gems has outstripped

all expectations.

One of the driving forces for this surge in prices in both rough

and polished top quality diamonds has been the realisation in

the diamond trading markets that the liquidation of the 

De Beers stockpile is now complete and a shortage of these

rare gems is developing. There is no known significant 

new source of diamonds coming into production in the

foreseeable future that is likely to ease this shortage. In fact,

Annual Report 2007
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LESOTHO

Gem Diamonds owns 70% of Letšeng Diamonds in partner -

ship with the Government of the Kingdom of Lesotho 

which owns the remaining 30%. Acquired in late 2006 for

US$118.5 million, Letšeng has delivered exceptional returns

for its shareholders. In 2006, Letšeng sold 53 000 carats at

an average price of US$1 578 per carat. Since Gem Diamonds

took control it has almost doubled annual production to a

forecast 101 000 carats for 2008, improved diamond prices

by between 50 – 100% for similar goods and expanded the

resource base significantly after accounting for depletion over

the period.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW continued

In 2007, Letšeng continued to produce some of the world’s

most remarkable diamonds, including the 493 carat Letšeng

Legacy and a 215 carat internally flawless white diamond

which sold for US$21 000 and US$38 600 per carat respectively.

Five +100 carat diamonds in total were recovered from Letšeng

during the year.

Letšeng has two kimberlite pipes and from acquisition to

November 2007, mining was focused on the Satellite Pipe. 

In December 2007, production shifted to the Main Pipe 

when hard rock was exposed, allowing cut three of the

Satellite Pipe to commence. Prior to this mining of the



WWW predicts that the real shortage for rough diamonds

will only really begin to take effect in 2011. Combining this

shortage with demand from the new wealth centres of the Far

East and Russia and with increased demand from the Middle

East, augurs well for a strong price growth. 

Looking forward therefore, there is no reason to expect

anything more severe than a levelling off of recent very high

prices in these key areas of Gem Diamonds’ production

profile despite the broader current economic circumstances.

In fact, if 2008 continues as it has started, Gem Diamonds

expects those mines with a high quality profile in all the

sizes to benefit from firm to improving prices over the

course of the year. 

11
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LETŠENG DIAMONDS PRODUCTION STATISTICS

FY07 FY06

Tonnes mined and
processed (millions) 4.0 3.1

Letšeng Diamonds grade (cpht) 2.09 1.91

Alluvial Ventures grade (cpht) 1.28 1.10

Carats produced 73 916 54 677

Carats sold Letšeng Diamonds 60 234 46 020

Carats sold Alluvial Ventures 16 639 6 793

Achieved US$/ct Letšeng Diamonds 2 201 1 602

Achieved US$/ct Alluvial Ventures 1 164 1 416

weathered kimberlite on the Main Pipe was undertaken by

contractors Alluvial Ventures.

Diamond prices achieved over the year increased steadily, 

a trend which has continued into 2008. Diamonds mined

from the Satellite Pipe sold on average over the year for 

US$2 201 against US$1 602 for 2006. In the first quarter of

2008, diamonds from a blended ore source were sold for an

average price of US$2 500 per carat, ahead of expectations.

With life of mine at Letšeng’s acquisition of 70 years, the

decision was taken to double the mine’s processing capacity

According to WWW International Diamond Consultants, prices in 

the very top quality rough diamonds increased by 50% to 100%,

depending on size, in 2007. 

Cempaka rough diamonds.

Source: WWW International Diamond Consultants
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW continued

with the construction of a second processing plant. Combined

with the current 2.6mtpa processing plant, the two plants will

have a 5.3mtpa processing capacity.

Construction of the second plant was completed subsequent

to the year end. Commissioning started on schedule in the first

quarter of 2008 and the plant is building up to full production

which is expected to be reached during the second quarter

of 2008.

Resource updates undertaken at the end of 2007 dramatically

upgraded the in situ value of the Letšeng mine from US$4.7

billion to US$6.7 billion. This increase is attributable to a 36%

increase in estimated in situ tonnes and a 14% increase in the

value of Letšeng’s diamonds. With this enlarged resource,

Letšeng’s resource is sufficient to provide 46 years’ worth of ore

at current mining rates. Further plans to increase production

optimally are being developed and will be formalised by 

late 2008.

Letšeng mine slimes dam.
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Resource updates undertaken 
at the end of 2007 dramatically
upgraded the in situ value 
of the Letšeng mine from 
US$4.7 billion to US$6.7 billion.

Top left: Letšeng mine Satellite Pipe pit.  
Bottom left: Lesotho Promise.
Right: Letšeng mine second processing plant.
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CUSHION CUT VIVID YELLOW DIAMOND
Ellendale mine

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW continued

AUSTRALIA

Gem Diamonds acquired a controlling interest in Kimberley

Diamonds, a listed Australian diamond mining company, in 

late November 2007. Kimberley Diamonds owns the Ellendale

mine with production comprising a high proportion of gem

diamonds. The mine’s fancy and vivid yellow diamonds are an

important component of the production mix. Kimberley

Diamonds also holds a 39% interest in Blina Diamonds, a listed

alluvial diamond mining and diamond exploration company

adjacent to the Ellendale mine.

Following the completion of the acquisition, the Kimberley

Diamonds’ board was reconstituted and a new managing

director, Alistair Croll, was subsequently appointed in

February 2008.

The acquisition of Kimberley Diamonds presented a low 

risk opportunity to gain access to a proven source of high

quality diamonds in a stable political environment. The mine

was constructed with an 8mtpa capacity and a good on-

site management team were in place. However, the mine

was running at 60% of capacity with no mine plan. Limited

access to capital hindered operations and optimal diamond

sales processes. Since Gem Diamonds’ involvement and

subsequent acquisition of Kimberley Diamonds, Ellendale has

been adequately capitalised, modifications have been made

to the processing plants and the sales technique has been

improved. The net effect of which is that the mine is expected

to process 8.5 million tonnes in 2008 to produce almost

600 000 carats at prices that have achieved a 39% increase

from US$152 per carat to US$216 per carat to date. Further

increases to the design capacity are underway and in 2009,

Ellendale is expected to process 10.5 million tonnes.

What was a marginal operation and a loss-making business

is being turned to profit and management continues to

target opportunities to increase margins. The one challenge

that Kimberley Diamonds does face is its high Australian

dollar fixed cost base which when combined with sales in a

weakening US dollar presents a currency risk.



Kimberley Diamonds owns the Ellendale mine with production

comprising a high proportion of gem diamonds. The mine’s vivid

and fancy yellow diamonds are an important component of the

production mix.

15

From left to right: Ellendale mine conveyer belt, Ellendale 
rough diamonds, Ellendale mine transporting ore, Ellendale mine
processing plant.
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BOTSWANA

Gem Diamonds acquired Gope Exploration from De Beers 

and Xstrata in May 2007 for US$34.1 million. Gope Exploration 

was the holder of a suspended retention licence covering the

Gope 25 kimberlite deposit in the Central Kalahari Game

Reserve (’CKGR’). A Mining Licence Application was submitted

in July 2007 and Section 51 negotiations with the Government

of Botswana will commence shortly. These negotiations will

determine the key terms of the mining licence.

Should a mining licence be granted the Company will

develop Gope into a 6mtpa mine producing over a million

carats per annum. The capital estimate remains in the region

of US$450 million and debt financing for this project is 

being negotiated.

To secure a mining licence at Gope, the existing Environmental

Impact Assessment (‘EIA’), which was completed in 1998,

required revising. Due to the sensitivity of the area around

Gope a decision was taken to conduct a full Social and

Environmental Impact Assessment (‘SEIA’) as part of the EIA.

Public Participation meetings, which form an integral part of

the SEIA, were held with all interested and affected parties,

including communities inside and around the CKGR.

Whilst disputes surrounding the CKGR were the subject 

of court action and had attracted negative publicity for some

time, the Company was of the view that these disputes were

mainly a matter between the State and its citizens, and did 

not pertain to the development of a mine at Gope. In all

discussions held between Gope Exploration, its independent

advisors tasked to complete the SEIA and the relevant

communities, indications have been that local communities

are strongly in favour of a mine being developed at Gope. 

This does not detract from the significant responsibility that

Gope Exploration has to develop this mine with the utmost

consideration for its social and environmental impact.

INDONESIA

BDI Mining was acquired by Gem Diamonds in May 2007 for

US$78.2 million. It owns 80% of the Cempaka alluvial diamond

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW continued

In all discussions held 
between Gope Exploration, 
its independent advisors and 
the relevant communities,
indications have been that 
local communities are strongly
in favour of a mine being
developed at Gope.

Top left: Resource drilling at Gope.
Bottom left: Cempaka rough diamond.
Right: Sunset at Gope.
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mine in south Kalimantan, Indonesia in partnership with the

Government of Indonesia which owns the remaining 20%. 

BDI Mining also owned the Woodlark Gold Project which was

subsequently sold for US$27 million. 

The alluvial deposits at the Cempaka mine consist of the

Danau Seran and Cempaka paleo-channels. The former,

which is significantly smaller but was of a higher grade, was

mined since the commencement of the operations in 2004,

and is almost depleted. Mining moved to the Cempaka

channel in the second half of 2007.

BDI Mining’s Cempaka mine produces high quality white

diamonds as well as an array of coloured diamonds. Limited

capital and mining expertise had hampered production

and thereby increased unit costs. This provided the

opportunity for the Company whose operational strategy

at Cempaka was to ramp up cubic metres processed,

driving down unit costs and simultaneously seek better

diamond prices through improved sales techniques. 

All three of these initiatives were successful with cubic

metres processed up from an annualised 130 000 bcm 

on acquisition to 672 000 bcm annualised by year end.

Annualised processing of 960 000 bcm is targeted. 

Some 10 400 carats from Cempaka were sold during 2007

prior to Gem Diamonds’ acquisition of BDI Mining at an

average price of US$218 per carat. A revision of this sales

process was under taken by Gem Diamonds and in 2008 

an average price of US$331 per carat has been achieved,

representing a 51% increase over previous prices.

At these levels, Cempaka remains a small operation for

Gem Diamonds. To maximise the return on investment,

production levels need to increase. Feasibility studies in this

regard are ongoing and results are expected in late 2008.

DRC

Gem Diamonds’ operations in the DRC comprise a number

of alluvial diamond projects and a kimberlite exploration

programme across three broad areas, namely Mbelenge,

Lubembe and Longatshimo.

Annual Report 2007

Cempaka rough diamonds.



These interests are held via a number of companies in

which Gem Diamonds has between an 80% and 100%

shareholding, having increased its stake during the year

in the largest of these, Kabongo Development Company,

from 49.99% to 100%.

The Company’s intention with its alluvial projects was to 

get into production rapidly and in a low cost manner. 

This was achieved at both Mbelenge and Lubembe where

operations were set up on time and on budget whilst

overcoming the significant logistical hurdles associated with

operating in the DRC.

Commissioning of the DMS plant commenced at Mbelenge

in late June 2007, slightly ahead of the schedule and the

plant was regularly achieving design throughput by year

end. Mining was focused on the river terraces of the Kasaï

River. Whilst grades realised were and remain lower than

forecast in this first area of focus, the quality of the diamonds

was in line with expectations at US$83 per carat.

Mining at Lubembe commenced in the modern day river 

and was undertaken with a number of dredge units. The

Annual Report 2007
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW continued

dredging programme was not as efficient as anticipated and

production was limited. The recovered grades were, however,

consistently higher than expected and diamonds were sold

for approximately US$86 per carat in line with expectations.

In light of these results the decision was taken to focus 

on resource development at all three alluvial projects on 

a lower cost basis until the Company is confident that 

these operations can be run profitably. A resource update

undertaken at the year end downgraded the average grade 

across the DRC’s alluvial projects, but increased the volume of

diamondiferous gravels, the net effect of which is that the in

situ resource is valued at approximately US$164 million.

Aeromagnetic and helimag surveys in 2006 and 2007 in

Lubembe and Longatshimo generated 59 higher interest

geophysical anomalies. Of these, 23 of the more accessible

targets were drilled but no kimberlite was intersected. The

remainder, which are in more remote locations, will be

investigated in 2008.

The different diamond populations evident in the Kasaï

province indicate that not all primary sources are likely to lie

The different diamond populations evident in the Kasaï
province indicate that not all primary sources are likely
to lie in northern Angola, as conventional thinking
currently suggests. The Company is confident that an
alternate proximal primary source exists.

Left: Kimberlite drilling at Lubembe, DRC.
Middle: Indicator gravels Mambéré, CAR.
Right: Helicopter surveying in the DRC.
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in northern Angola, as conventional thinking currently

suggests. The Company is therefore confident that an

alternate proximal primary source exists.

CAR

Gem Diamonds holds a 75% interest in Gem Diamonds

Centrafrique SA, in partnership with the Government of the

CAR which holds the remaining 25%. Gem Diamonds

Centrafrique holds exclusive exploration and mining rights

to the 800km2 Mambéré Concession. 

In the target area on the Mambéré River known locally as ‘le

Buckle’, a sampling campaign was carried out across the

terrace and modern river gravels in 2007. At 1.19 cpht the

diamond grades from the terraces were determined sub-

economic at the current cost base and sampling moved

downstream of le Buckle in early 2008. A partial river diversion

was constructed in January 2008 and more encouraging

grades averaging 20 cpht were recovered in February and

March 2008. The value of these diamonds has been estimated

at US$140 per carat. Work to determine the extent of the

resource is in progress.

ANGOLA

A Cooperation Agreement was signed in January 2007

between Gem Diamonds and Avantis Angola with respect

to a feasibility study to be conducted on the known Chiri

kimberlite in the Lunda Sul Province of Angola in which

Avantis has a 25% interest. An Option Agreement whereby

Gem Diamonds can acquire an effective 11.25% interest in

Chiri from Avantis Angola was signed at the same time. 

A further opportunity to increase Gem Diamonds’ interest

to 20% was also agreed.

Gem Diamonds regards Chiri as a highly promising

undeveloped kimberlite. Drilled and subsequently illegally

mined during Angola’s civil war, Chiri’s diamondiferous

nature is well known but its grade not yet confirmed.

During 2007, a project team was recruited and Luanda

offices were established. A 10 tph DMS sampling plant 

and large diameter drill rig have been procured and are 

in transit to the site where a camp has been established. 

The preliminary feasibility report is expected by the end 

of 2008.

Mambéré River, CAR.
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Ellendale polished diamonds.



BENEFICIATION

Margins in the diamond business vary widely across the

value chain. Overall, however, the Company’s experience is

that the highest margins are achieved in the mining and

jewellery retailing segments.

Due to the high value of Gem Diamonds’ production 

across its three mines, a number of options exist for Gem

Diamonds to capture downstream margin. In late 2007, two

trials were conducted with Antwerp based Matrix Diamond

Technology polishing 267 carats of highly complex rough

diamonds from Letšeng into 80.2 polished carats. These

polished diamonds were sold in two separate tenders

subsequent to year end, the first of which was the first time

a tender of polished diamonds had taken place in Antwerp.

The results of these beneficiation trials were positive with

both tenders achieving record prices per carat for certain

polished diamonds. An average price per carat of US$90 000

was received. Trials on Ellendale yellow diamonds have 

been initiated.  
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Due to the high value of Gem
Diamonds’ production across its
three mines, a number of options
exist for Gem Diamonds to
capture downstream margin.

Top left: Ellendale polished pear shape diamond.
Bottom left: Lesotho Promise in polishing process.
Right: Ellendale mine conveyer belts.

It is too early to accurately quantify the additional revenue

that this process of beneficiation could bring to the Group.

However, the Company is cognisant of the fact that in order

to achieve the final margin capture, the application of a

premium brand and marketing strategy to the polished

diamonds is an important factor.

Gem Diamonds enters 2008 with three producing mines

situated in different countries, all of which are in expansion 

mode and producing diamonds that continue to achieve

extraordinary prices. Development projects throughout

Africa provide an opportunity to more than double 

the current production levels.

Whilst the current US economic climate presents a challenge,

opportunities abound throughout the diamond value chain to

deliver returns to our shareholders. Our outlook remains

extremely positive.

CT Elphick

Chief Executive Officer
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Revenue of US$151.9 million was generated in 2007 from the sale of

rough diamonds recovered at Letšeng Diamonds where the number

of carats sold and prices achieved have improved significantly from that

of the prior period.

CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER’S REVIEW
I am pleased to present the Group’s maiden Annual Financial

Results as a listed entity in which the Group is able to report

revenue of US$152.7 as well as earnings before interest, tax,

depreciation and amortisation (‘EBITDA’)1 of US$73.5 million.

This EBITDA was achieved as follows:

REVENUE

Revenue of US$151.9 million was generated in 2007 from

the sale of rough diamonds recovered at Letšeng Diamonds

where the number of carats sold and prices achieved

improved significantly from that of the prior period.

Sales of rough diamonds from other mines as well as those

of polished diamonds on hand at the end of 2007 occurred

subsequent to year end.  Diamonds recovered but not sold

are held at the lower of cost or net realisable value on the

balance sheet. Revenue generated from diamonds recovered

and sold from development projects in Central Africa in 2007

are netted off against exploration expenditure, the net amount

of which is capitalised to the balance sheet.

ROYALTIES AND SALES COSTS

Royalties and selling costs relate to a 2.5% commission paid to

agents based in Antwerp, which will reduce to 1.75% in the

course of 2008 when the second plant at Letšeng is at full

production, as well as an 8% royalty payable to the Lesotho

Revenue Authority on the sale of Letšeng’s diamonds. 

(US$ million) 12 months 6 months
ended ended

December December
2007 2006

Revenue 152.7 50.4
Royalties and sales costs (16.6) (3.9)
Cost of sales (before depreciation 
and amortisation) (44.2) (15.5)
Corporate expenses (17.4) (7.8)
Share of loss in associate (1.0) (0.5)

EBITDA 73.5 22.7

Depreciation (7.6) (2.2)
Other income 0.2 –
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) 14.7 (9.3)
Net finance income/(costs) 20.1 (0.2)

Trading profit 100.9 11.0

Amortisation (13.0) (3.1)
Share based payments (19.5) –

Profit before tax 68.4 7.9

1. EBITDA unless indicated to the contrary, is before exceptional items
and share based payments.  Exceptional items are significant items of
income and expense which due to their nature or expected infrequency
are presented separately in the Income Statement.

Cempaka rough diamonds.
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REVIEW continued

The effective tax rate of 41% is above the average tax rate across 

the Group of 30% as a result of unrecognised deferred tax assets. 

The effective cash tax rate was 25%.

COST OF SALES

Cost of sales for the year was US$44.2 million before non-

cash costs of on mine deprecation of US$7.6 million and

amortisation on mining assets of US$13.0 million. The bulk of

this relates to sales at Letšeng Diamonds.

CORPORATE EXPENSES 

Corporate expenses relate to central costs incurred by 

Gem Diamonds and its services subsidiary Gem Diamond

Technical Services. Central costs were in line with those

budgeted for the year. 

LETSENG LEGACY
2007: 493cts

^

SHARE OF LOSS IN ASSOCIATE

The share of loss in associate relates to losses incurred in

Kabongo Development Company (‘KDC’) of US$1.0 million

prior to the Company increasing its holding to 100% in

October 2007. 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS

A foreign exchange gain was earned as a result of the

Company’s decision to convert capital raised on IPO in Sterling

into US dollars. This decision was made on the basis that the

Company’s functional currency is US dollars. A further foreign

exchange gain was made on funds transferred to Australia to

settle the Kimberley Diamonds acquisition.

FINANCE INCOME

Net finance income received reflects the interest accrued

on the capital raised at IPO in mid-February 2007. The rate at
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which interest is earned in 2008 will decline in line with

global interest rates.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

As set out in the Company’s Prospectus, the Company is

authorised to issue up to 2.5% of shares in issue at IPO (i.e.

2.5% of 57 865 209) to non-Executive Directors of which

2.25% have been allocated to date. Going forward the

Company intends to make awards to Executive Directors

and other Senior Executives of up to 1% of the total shares

in issue in any one financial year. 

TAXATION

US$17.1 million of tax charges relate to income and with-

holding taxes paid by the Group to revenue authorities. The

balance of US$10.8 million is deferred tax. The effective tax

rate of 41% is above the average tax rate across the Group

of 30% as a result of unrecognised deferred tax assets. These

unrecognised deferred tax assets mainly comprise tax losses

across the Group, the benefit of which may be realised in

future years. The effective cash tax rate was 25%.

MINORITY INTERESTS

Minority interests represent the 30% in Letšeng Diamonds

which is held by the Company’s partner, the Government

of Lesotho.

EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

Earnings attributable to shareholders for the year were

US$23.2 million equating to 40 US cents per share on a

weighted average basis (40 US cents per share for dilutive

earnings).  The weighted average number of shares in issue

during the year was 57.5 million shares. At year end shares

in issue were 62.4 million.

INVENTORY

In line with the decision to review the sales processes 

at a number of recently acquired companies, diamonds

KEY GROUP RISKS 2007

1

2

3

4

5

6

9

8

7

10

In 2007, the Board and Senior Executives considered 
the position of the Group and the potential risks 

to achieving its stated strategy. The following key risks 
were identified:

Global economic conditions and its impact on the diamond

industry.

Escalating costs and lack of availability of inputs and/or suppliers

as a result of variable exchange rates and commodity prices.  

Reputational damage as a result of failure to deliver on market

expectations with regard to:

c performance and growth;

c technical and managerial competencies; 

c governance practices; and 

c regulatory compliance.

A failure to manage third party, government or joint 

venture relationships.

A threat to security of tenure to operate as a result of political

and/or economic instability.

A major health, safety or environmental incident.

Insufficient growth and underperformance of return to

stakeholders from failure to:

c progress the Gope mining licence application;

c deliver on the Chiri project; and 

c achieve beneficiation plans.

A failure to deliver on major capital projects in terms of cost, time

and quality.

Inability to secure appropriate funding for future projects.

The underperformance of acquisitions, investments or resources.
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such no revenue was generated and the majority of the

operating costs were taken to inventory which is held at

the lower of cost or net realisable value.

Gope Exploration

In May 2007, the Group acquired 100% of Gope Exploration

for a total consideration of US$34.1 million.

KDC

Gem Diamonds started the year as a 49.9% shareholder 

in KDC and acquired the remaining 50.1% in October 2007 for

US$56.1 million. KDC owns various licences and concessions

in the DRC, the bulk of which are in the Mbelenge and

Lubembe areas.

Kimberley Diamonds

In November 2007, the Group acquired Kimberley Diamonds

for a total cash consideration of US$249.2 million of which

US$14.5 million was settled after year end. Kimberley Diamonds

owns the producing Ellendale mine operating in Western

Australia. Kimberley Diamonds was fully consolidated from 

1 December 2007.

With three producing mines in different countries, Gem

Diamonds has expanded and de-risked its earning capacity.

Acquisitions are now fully operationally and financially

integrated and 2008 is expected to be a year of solid 

organic growth.

Kevin Burford

Chief Financial Officer

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REVIEW continued

recovered at Ellendale and Cempaka were accumulated for

sale in early 2008. Sales of these diamonds were held in

January and February 2008 and significantly reduced the

inventory holding.  

CASH

The Group started the period with US$51.9 million in cash

resources. This was supplemented by net cash raised of

US$606.9 million, proceeds of which were arrived at as follows:

c 30 000 000 shares issued on 14 February 2007 at £9.50;

c A further 4 100 000 shares issued on 23 February 2007

in the greenshoe allocation at £9.50; and

c Less cash costs incurred in the year on the raising of this

capital of US$29.3 million.

During the period, US$390.6 million of this cash was applied to

the acquisitions detailed below. US$109.6 million was invested

in property, plant and equipment at existing operations.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

In line with the Group strategy a number of acquisitions

were made during the year:

BDI Mining 

In May 2007, the Company acquired BDI Mining for a cash

consideration of US$78.2 million, which owned 80% 

of the producing Cempaka alluvial diamond mine in

Indonesia.  BDI Mining also owned 100% of the Woodlark

Gold Project in Papua New Guinea which was disposed of

for a consideration of US$27 million. The net cash price of

Cempaka was therefore US$51.2 million. BDI Mining was

consolidated into the Group accounts from June 2007.

There were no diamond sales during the period and as



ANNUAL RESOURCE
STATEMENT
c Total in situ revenue increased by 28% to US$11.4 billion

c Letšeng in situ revenue increased by 44% to US$6.7 billion

c Resource diversified across seven countries

c Resource at high level of confidence with 73% of carats at Indicated 
Resource level

The annual resource statement summarised in the following

tables is based on independent resource statements

provided by Venmyn Rand for all of the Group’s operations.  

The resource statement of 31 December 2007 is compared

to the previous Gem Diamonds resource statement dated

30 June 2007 for continuity purposes. Resources stated are

either SAMREC or JORC compliant as determined by Venmyn

Rand. Indicated Resources are inclusive of Probable Reserves.

Probable Reserves are stated only where Venmyn Rand 

have determined that the necessary reserve criteria satisfy

either JORC or SAMREC. Resources are stated at various 

cut-offs depending on the specific operation or develop -

ment project and the resource inventory is depleted to 

31 December 2007.

The Letšeng resource has increased by 0.84 million carats,

resulting in additional resource revenue of US$2.1 billion.

This increase is due to an improved understanding of the

Letšeng mineralisation model and modifications to the

resource classification parameters allowing for an addition of

the total resource extent to Inferred Resource category.
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From left to right: Drilling in Letšeng mine Satellite Pipe pit, Satellite Pipe pit at Letšeng mine, Chelsea Blue blue diamond from Cempaka.
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Country Probable Reserves Indicated Resources* Inferred Resources Total Resources

Australia
– Ellendale – – – – 56.3 0.06 3.36 149 51.2 0.06 2.92 162 107.5 0.06 6.28 155 974

Botswana
– Gope – – – – 97.2 0.19 18.90 131 – – – – 97.2 0.194 18.90 131 2 475

CAR
– Mambéré – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

DRC
– Mbelenge – – – – – – – – 0.7 1.00 0.69 80 0.7 0.42 0.69 80 55
– Longatshimo – – – – – – – – 0.9 0.29 0.25 126 0.9 0.29 0.25 126 31
– Lubembe – – – – – – – – 3.1 0.31 0.96 83 3.1 0.31 0.96 83 79
– Tshikapa – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

DRC Total – – – – – – – – 4.7 0.40 1.89 88 4.7 0.40 1.89 88 165

Indonesia
– Cempaka 4.3 0.05 0.23 252 10.5 0.04 0.43 251 78.2 0.03 2.20 246 88.7 0.03 2.63 247 649

Lesotho
– Letšeng 75.8 0.017 1.30 1 447 75.8 0.017 1.30 1 447 102.5 0.018 1.84 1 517 178.3 0.018 3.14 1 488 4 674 

Total 80.1 0.019 1.53 1 271 239.8 0.10 23.99 186 236.5 0.04 8.85 449 476.3 0.07 32.84 272 8 938

* Indicated resources include Probable Reserves.

ANNUAL RESOURCE STATEMENT continued
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Country Probable Reserves Indicated Resources* Inferred Resources Total Resources

Australia
– Ellendale – – – – 57.6 0.06 3.28 215 47.6 0.05 2.44 256 105.2 0.05 5.71 232 1 328

Botswana
– Gope – – – – 97.1 0.19 18.88 136 – 0.00 0.00 – 97.1 0.194 18.88 136 2 568

CAR
– Mambéré – – – – – – – – 3.5 0.01 0.05 170 3.5 0.01 0.05 170 8

DRC
– Mbelenge – – – – – – – – 2.0 0.05 0.10 83 2.0 0.05 0.10 83 8
– Longatshimo – – – – – – – – 5.4 0.20 1.04 126 5.4 0.19 1.04 126 131
– Lubembe – – – – – – – – 0.5 0.61 0.29 86 0.5 0.61 0.29 86 25
– Tshikapa – – – – – – – – – – – – – – 0.00 – –

DRC Total – – – – – – – – 7.9 0.18 1.42 115 7.9 0.18 1.42 115 164

Indonesia
– Cempaka 4.1 0.06 0.218 261 10.2 0.04 0.41 259 77.0 0.03 2.20 247 87.2 0.03 2.61 249 650

Lesotho
– Letšeng 84.1 0.016 1.35 1 654 84.1 0.016 1.35 1 654 158.9 0.017 2.63 1 709 243.0 0.016 3.98 1 690 6 724

Total 88.2 0.02 1.56 1 469 249.0 0.10 23.91 234 294.8 0.03 8.74 668 543.9 0.06 32.65 350 11 441

* Indicated resources include Probable Reserves.
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The Company’s HSSE systems and risk management programmes are

independently monitored and audited at all operations at least once a

year, or more frequently dependent upon the operation’s previous audit

performance and risk profile.

SUSTAINABILITY
REVIEW
The Company’s commitment to sustainable development, which includes commitments to health, safety, CSR and environment

(collectively ‘HSSE’), is integral to its strategy and business philosophy. The Company’s principles, ethics and HSSE policies

therefore recognise that responsible management is an integral part of the long term success of its business. Specifically,

such an approach is expected to:

c minimise risk to persons and assets and the environment in which the Group operates;

c assist in securing access to talented people who will add value to the business of the Company;

c enhance the Company’s corporate reputation;

c assist in securing access to the best resources; 

c assist in securing cost effective sources of capital; and

c ensure that the Company will make a sustainable contribution to the countries and communities affected 

by its operations.

The HSSE policies can be viewed on the Company’s website.

Miss Lesotho, Keletos Pitso, holding the Letšeng Legacy 493 carats.

From left to right: Indicator gravels in DRC, Mambéré River in CAR, Letšeng Diamonds mounted security.
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SUSTAINABILITY REVIEW continued

HSSE COMMITTEE, SYSTEMS AND RISK

The HSSE Committee is chaired by Gavin Beevers (non-

Executive Director) and includes Glenn Turner (Chief Legal

and Commercial Officer) and Graham Wheelock (Chief

Mineral Resources Manager). The Group’s Chief Operating

Officer (‘COO’) and the Group’s HSSE Manager attend by

invitation. The Committee is responsible for establishing,

monitoring and assessing the effectiveness of the Company

and its subsidiaries’ HSSE policies, strategy and performance

and reports directly to the Board. The Group HSSE Manager

reports directly to the Group’s COO. Each operating unit 

is responsible for managing its own HSSE performance

within the framework of the Group’s policies. 

The Company’s HSSE systems and risk management pro -

grammes are monitored and audited at all operations at 

least once a year, or more frequently dependent upon the

operation’s performance and risk profile.

HSSE site audits were conducted at Letšeng, Lubembe,

Mbelenge and Cempaka during the last quarter of 2007.

These sites will be audited again in 2008 as will all the other

operating sites, including Ellendale in Australia which was

acquired in November 2007. In addition, effective 2008,

independent HSSE consultants IRCA (Pty) Ltd have been

contracted for a three-year period to independently audit

the Group’s HSSE policies and performance at all sites on an

annual basis.

Gem Diamonds’ approach to risk management is value driven

and has the stated objective of ensuring an environment in

which it can grow shareholder value through developing and

protecting the Group’s assets, the environment of those

locations in which it operates, and its reputation. The process

is thorough and robust and is an essential element of 

the Group’s approach to business planning. The identified

HSSE risks are included in each operating unit’s risk register

and appropriate risk management plans are established,

Fire safety training Ellendale mine.
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HEALTH

In 2007, no occupational diseases were recorded at the

Group’s operations.

A number of malaria cases were recorded during 2007 at the

sites in the DRC, making it the most significant health issue for

the Central African region. In order to speed up diagnosis and

subsequent treatment, the Company purchased CyScope

malaria testing machines for all sites in Central Africa. Detailed

malaria prevention plans, which include the distribution of

prophylaxis, were also instituted at all the affected sites. None

of the Group’s other operations units recorded any significant

health issues.

The remote nature of some sites makes it necessary to 

have advanced medical response equipment and facilities

available in addition to basic first aid. All sites therefore have

established medical infrastructure and facilities commen-

surate with the level of risk exposure. 

implemented and monitored so that the HSSE risks 

are mitigated. 

From a Group perspective the principal HSSE risks have

been identified as:

c injuries to or illness of employees working in remote

locations;

c possible environmental incidents resulting in adverse

impacts; 

c incidents of property damage/loss;

c emergency situation management; and

c failure to maintain social ‘licence to operate’ from the

communities where the Company operates. 

All sites have detailed standard operating procedures in

place to manage these potential issues. 

Gem Diamonds’ approach to risk
management is value driven and 
has the stated objective of ensuring 
an environment in which it can grow
shareholder value through developing
and protecting the Group’s assets, the
environment in those locations in
which it operates, and its reputation. 

Top left: Environmental surveying, Ellendale mine.
Bottom left: Safety checks, Ellendale mine.
Right: Rural village, Lesotho.



GOPE COMMUNITY RELATIONS

Gem Diamonds is guided by its CSR policy which commits

the Company to maintaining trans parent, consultative

relationships with all stakeholders in the communities 

in which it operates. In line with this and the requirements

of the Government of Botswana, the decision was taken 

to complete a full Social and Environmental Impact

Assessment (‘SEIA’) on the proposed development of a 

mine at Gope.

The SEIA, undertaken by independent consultants Marsh

Environmental Services (‘Marsh’), followed the process

prescribed in Botswana law.

As part of this process all Interested and Affected Parties were

consulted. These included communities in and around the

Central Kalahari Game Reserve (‘CKGR’) where Gope is situated,

with whom Public Participation Meetings were held.

Marsh hosted the Public Participation Meetings which were

held in eight villages, three of which were inside the CKGR. In

total 590 people attended the meetings, at which communities

were able to air their views and wherever possible given

answers to their questions in the spirit of consultation.

The communities were briefed by Marsh on the SEIA and the

plans to develop a mine at Gope. Communities demonstrated

a solid understanding of the issues associated with the

development of a mine and overwhelming welcomed 

the prospect of a mine at Gope.

The key issues discussed at all meetings included the

location of the proposed access road, employment

opportunities and potential access to water. All three are

critical to these geographically isolated communities where

unemployment is high and water sources scarce.

The SEIA is ongoing and is expected to be completed by the

third quarter of 2008. The findings of this assessment will

provide guidance to the Company on how to develop a mine

at Gope in an environmentally and socially conscious manner,

and form the basis of the Government’s decision to award a

mining licence.
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SUSTAINABILITY REVIEW continued

Prevalence rates for HIV/AIDS have not yet been established 

for the entire workforce, however, in accordance with 

best practice, voluntary testing, treatment and counselling 

pro grammes are made available at all operations. These

programmes are also accessible to the local communities. 

At Letšeng a detailed HIV/AIDS management strategy is

already in place. This includes, but is not limited to:

c awareness coaching;

c free testing and counselling; and

c distribution of free condoms.

The Group-wide HIV/AIDS strategy will continue to be rolled

out during 2008. 

Basarwa people of Botswana.



SAFETY

Gem Diamonds targets a zero fatality rate and a LTIFR of 

1.50 at its operations. 

Although 2007 started poorly with a LTIFR in the first 

quarter of 3.07, as a result of a significant effort by all

concerned, the Group achieved a LTIFR of zero in the final

quarter of the year. For 2007, the Group can report that it

achieved a creditable LTIFR of 1.06. 
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Tragically, however, a contractor working on the construction

of the second plant at Letšeng lost his life. This accident 

was thoroughly inves tigated by the Lesotho Government

department responsible for occupational safety, which

concluded that no responsibility for the accident could be

apportioned to the Company and no further legal action was

taken. Appropriate procedures have been put in place to

prevent, as far as is possible, a recurrence. 

Gem Diamonds targets a zero fatality rate and a
LTIFR  of 1.50 at its operations. 

Top: Kimberlite drilling, DRC.
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SUSTAINABILITY REVIEW continued

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In consultation with the identified stakeholders every

operation has put in place a CSR committee that comprises

community leaders, community repre sen tatives, government

officials and Company represen ta tives. The CSR committees

are responsible for developing site specific CSR strategies and

a detailed management plan that allow the Company to

make appropriate contributions in the communities in which

it operates. The Company responds to the CSR committees’

requests for assistance with identified programmes and

projects with a tangible and sustainable community benefit

that the Company considers appropriate to support. 

In 2007, the Group set aside approximately US$1 million to

finance various CSR initiatives that were identified by the

individual CSR committees. These projects included, but

were not limited to:

c the construction of two eco-tourism resorts in the

Khubelu River valley near Letšeng in Lesotho. The resorts

will supply a sustainable source of income to the local

com mu nity who will be responsible for managing them;

c the provision of university sponsorships for five Basotho

students at South African universities;

c the construction of two schools, two community clinics

and five houses at three villages near to the operations

in the DRC;

c the upgrading and construction of various rural roads,

bridges and pontoon river crossings in the south of 

the DRC;

c upgrades to the local school in the CAR;

c the upgrading and construction of a rural road and a

bridge in the CAR; and

c the construction of a community centre, renovations 

to the community school as well as donations of 

sewing machines and farming equipment for the

establishment of small businesses in Indonesia’s South

Kalimantan province.

Bushman Dance Festival.
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In consultation with the identified stakeholders every
operation has put in place a CSR committee that comprises
community leaders, community representatives,
government officials and Company representatives.

During 2008, the Company plans to continue with the

existing CSR initiatives and to improve the effectiveness of

its community contributions.

In the DRC, the Company has reached an agreement with

Caritas Internationalis to take over and manage the school

and clinic projects. This approach will also be followed for

future construction projects in the DRC.

Sustainable Villages Africa (Pty) Ltd has been approached to

assist with the development of a sustainable Small and

Medium Enterprise business unit strategy for Gem Diamonds

to follow as part of their CSR strategy. 

ENVIRONMENT

The Company seeks to limit the environmental impact

associated with its activities. In accordance with the Company’s

environmental policy, every operation is required to conduct a

detailed Social and Environment Impact Assessment (‘SEIA’),

to support this with an appropriate Environmental and Social

Management Plan (‘ESMP’) and to maintain an environmental

manage ment system that is consistent with the requirements

of the ISO14001 International Standard.

Talks have been held with Conservation International 

to assist with the setting of environmental targets and

benchmarks and thereafter the monitoring thereof. The

Company strives for continuous improvement in the

environmental performance of all its operations. 

One of Gem Diamonds’ goals is to actively reduce its carbon

footprint and as such the operations seek to continuously

reduce air emissions that are generated from power generators,

Far left: Diamond sorting, Ellendale mine.
Middle: Letšeng Diamonds security.
Right: Ellendale mine water testing.
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SUSTAINABILITY REVIEW continued

truck and shovel mining operations and other hydrocarbon

burning activities. To reduce exhaust emissions, proper

scheduled maintenance programmes as well as energy

efficiency programmes are implemented at all sites.

During 2008 an independent organisation will be contracted

to compute the Group’s carbon footprint and to recommend

additional areas of improvement.

All operations are required to compile and implement an

appropriate waste management plan that consistently strives

to reduce the waste that is sent to active landfill. The operations

seek to recycle as much waste as is practical and where

possible all purchase contracts include a ‘buy-back’ clause,

wherein the supplier agrees to take/buy back the used items.

Waste separation is standard practice at all operations to

allow for recycling wherever possible.

Some of the Company’s operations are in water scarce areas

and as part of the ESIA and ESMP processes, detailed water

management studies are carried out to identify any possible

water conservation opportunities. 

All operations seek to increase the proportion of water that

is recycled and re-used on site in order to make continuous

reductions in raw water extraction and processing plants

are accordingly designed with water conservation and re-

use in mind. 

Waste separation is standard practice 
at all operations to allow for recycling
wherever possible.

Top: Letšeng surounds, Lesotho.
Bottom: Ellendale mine solar panels.



The Directors have pleasure in submitting the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a major global diamond mining company, listed on the main market of the London Stock Exchange. 

More detailed information on the Company’s operations, activities and financial performance is incorporated into this report

by reference and can be found in the Chief Executive Officer’s and Chief Financial Officer’s Review on pages 9 to 26.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s financial results are set out in the Financial Information section on pages 72 to 122.

The Board recommends no final dividend in accordance with the intention set out in the Company’s IPO Prospectus dated 

14 February 2007.

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS, FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS AND POST BALANCE 
SHEET EVENTS

A review of the business, future developments and post balance sheet events of the Company is incorporated into this report

by reference and can be found in the Chairman’s Statement, Chief Executive Officer’s and Chief Financial Officer’s Reviews on

pages 5 to 26.

A full description of the acquisitions of BDI Mining; Gope Exploration; Kabongo Development Company; and Kimberley

Diamonds and their financing together with other acquisitions, disposals, and changes to companies undertaken during the

year, including post balance sheet events, are included in the Chief Financial Officer’s Review on pages 23 to 26.

EXPLORATION AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT

The Company’s business units carry out exploration and resource development activities that are necessary to support and

expand their operations.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s financial risk management objectives and key Group risks are detailed on page 25 of the Chief Financial 

Officer’s Review.
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HEALTH, SAFETY, SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENT

A review of health, safety, social and environmental performance and community participation is presented in the Sustainability

Review on pages 31 to 38. 

POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No political donations were made in 2007. The Group’s CSR expenditure supports initiatives that benefit the communities

local to the Company’s operations in the areas of health, education, environment, culture and art, social and community

development and job creation. In 2007, the Company contributed approximately US$1 million for these social and

environmental initiatives.

EMPLOYEE POLICIES AND INVOLVEMENT 

The Group’s employment practices have been developed to ensure that the Group attracts and retains the required calibre

of management and staff by creating an environment that incentivises enhanced performance. The safety and effective

performance of employees, together with the maintenance of positive employee relations are of key importance across the

Group’s operations.

It is Company policy to communicate openly with employees and encourage consultation between employees and

management. No form of workplace discrimination or harassment is tolerated and the Company is committed to the principle

of equal opportunity in employment irrespective of gender, religion, race, age, disability or marital status.

The Company employs a global workforce of approximately 2 400 employees and long term contractors globally. The management

of labour relations at each location is a fundamental responsibility of operational management. The Company always seeks to

have a direct relationship between its employees and business function management, founded on quality, leadership, effective

communication and trust. All employees are free to join a union of their choice and to be represented collectively.

The Group Human Resources Manager is responsible for setting guidelines and frameworks in respect of Company policy on

remuneration, performance management, career development and succession planning, recruitment and expatriate

management and for the alignment of human resources management and policy with international best practice. Each

operating unit manages its human resources requirements locally, within the Company’s guidelines and framework. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on corporate governance and compliance with the provisions of the Combined Code is set out on pages 59 to 68.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS

Having made enquiries of fellow Directors and of the Company’s auditors, each Director confirms that to the best of his

knowledge and belief, there is no information relevant to the preparation of the auditor’s report of which the Company’s

auditors are unaware and that each Director has taken all reasonable steps as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant

audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT continued
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GOING CONCERN

The Directors believe, after making enquiries that they consider to be appropriate, that the Group has adequate resources to

continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis

in preparing the financial statements.

DIRECTORS 

The Directors, as at the date of this report, are listed on pages 2 and 3 together with their biographical details.

Details of Directors’ interests in shares and share options of the Company can be found in the Remuneration Report on 

pages 55 and 56. 

Roger Davis succeeded Clifford Elphick as Chairman on 24 September 2007. Lord Renwick joined the Board as a non-Executive

Director on 24 September 2007, and Mike Salamon and Richard Williams MBE. MC., joined the Board as non-Executive Directors

on 3 February 2008. On 22 April 2008 Glenn Turner and Alan Ashworth joined the Board as Executive Directors and Graham

Wheelock stepped down.
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Name Date of appointment Date of resignation

CT Elphick 20 January 2006 N/A
KM Burford 20 January 2006 N/A
RW Davis 1 February 2007 N/A
DJ Elzas 18 October 2005 N/A
GA Beevers 1 February 2007 N/A
Lord Renwick 24 September 2007 N/A
M Salamon 3 February 2008 N/A
RJ Williams 3 February 2008 N/A
G Turner 22 April 2008 N/A
AR Ashworth 22 April 2008 N/A
NG Leech 18 October 2005 22 January 2007
AD Stewart 20 January 2006 22 January 2007
G Wheelock 22 January 2007 22 April 2008

DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENTS

The Combined Code provides that a third of Directors retire by rotation, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. In

addition, Directors who have been appointed since Admission will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 

As this is the first AGM following the listing of the Company in February 2007, it has been agreed all the Directors retire, including

those who were Directors at the time of listing, so that the provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance relating

to retirement by rotation will take effect as from the date of this first AGM.

Details of the resolutions that will be put to the AGM are given in the notice of the AGM. 



FLOTATION ON LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE

On 14 February 2007, Gem Diamonds was conditionally listed on the main board of the LSE. Unconditional trading in the Company’s

shares commenced on 19 February 2007. An institutional offer was held simultaneously with the listing and 31 000 000 shares

subscribed for at £9.50. Subsequent thereto, a greenshoe offer was completed and a further 4 100 000 shares were issued at £9.50.

The gross proceeds of this capital raising were US$636 million.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company, including the rights pertaining to each share class, are set

out in Note 20 to the Financial Statements on pages 107 and 108. Subsequent to the year end, the issued share capital was

increased on 19 February 2008 as follows:

The ordinary issued share capital was increased when the Directors issued and allotted, in accordance with the Prospectus,

506 322 new ordinary shares of US$0.01 each to Roger Davis (289 326 shares), Gavin Beevers (72 332 shares), Dave Elzas

(72 332 shares), and Mike Salamon (72 332 shares). These new ordinary shares rank pari passu with the existing ordinary shares

and have been admitted to the Official List of the LSE.

The ordinary issued share capital of the Company at the date of this report is 62 905 521 ordinary shares.

MAJOR INTERESTS IN SHARES

On 31 March 2008, the following major interests (at or above 5%) in the ordinary issued shares of US$0.01 each of the 

Company had been notified to the Company in accordance with the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the Financial

Services Authority:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT continued

Number of Shareholding
ordinary shares of 5% 

Shareholder of US$0.01 each or above

Gem Diamonds Holdings Ltd 9 325 000 14.82

BlackRock Inc 7 310 824 11.62

Capital Group Companies Inc 5 825 236 9.26

Lansdowne Partners Ltd 5 642 325 8.97

MAJOR INTERESTS IN SHARES
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). 

The Directors are required to prepare Group financial statements for each financial year that present fairly the financial position

of the Group and the financial performance and cash flows of the Group for that period. In preparing those Group financial

statements the Directors are required to:

c select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

c present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and

understandable information; 

c provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient to enable users to

understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Group’s financial position and

financial performance; and 

c state that the Group has complied with IFRS, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the

financial statements. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial

position of the Group in accordance with the BVI Business Companies Act 2004. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets

of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITIES

The Company is proposing to change the Articles of Association to provide for qualifying third party indemnities to each of

its Directors against any liability which attaches to them in defending proceedings brought against them, to conform to the

BVI Business Companies Act 2004 and in line with the UK Companies Act 2006. In addition, Directors and Officers of the

Company and its subsidiaries are covered by Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance.

CREDITORS’ PAYMENT PRACTICE

In view of the international nature of the Group’s operations there is no specific Group-wide policy in respect of payments to

suppliers. Individual operating companies are responsible for agreeing terms and conditions for their business transactions

and ensuring that suppliers are aware of the terms of payment. It is Group practice that payments are made in accordance

with those terms, provided that all trading terms and conditions have been met by the supplier.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held at JP Morgan Cazenove, 20 Moorgate, London, EC2R 6DA on 4 June 2008 at 3.00 pm

The details of the business to be transacted at the AGM are included in the notice of the meeting which is circulated separately

with the Annual Report. 
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ELECTRONIC COPIES OF DOCUMENTS

Copies of the Annual Report 2007 and other publications, the Notice of the Annual General Meeting, HSSE policies and 

other corporate publications, reports, press releases and announcements are available on the Company’s website at

vwvw.gemdiamonds.com.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be put to the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as

the Company’s auditors and to authorise the Board to determine the auditor’s remuneration.

By order of the Board 

André Confavreux
AG Confavreux

Company Secretary 

22 April 2008
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44

DIRECTORS’ REPORT continued



1. ROLE OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee (‘the Committee’) is a formal committee of the Board. Its terms of reference are available

on the Company’s website and conform to the Combined Code. 

The principal roles of the Committee are to:

c Consider and determine all elements of the remuneration of the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer and the

Senior Executive team; and 

c Determine the terms of any performance-related remuneration paid by the Company.

The Committee also considers the level and structure of remuneration across the Company and advises on any major

changes proposed.

2. COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE

The Committee comprised the following members during the year and to the date of this report:

c Lord Renwick: non-Executive Director who chairs the Committee (appointed 28 November 2007);

c Roger Davis: Company Chairman (chairman of the Committee until 24 September 2007); and

c Dave Elzas: non-Executive Director.

The remuneration of non-Executive Directors, other than the Chairman, will be considered by the Chairman and the Chief

Executive and is not considered by the Committee. The Chairman’s remuneration is determined by the Committee while

the Chairman is absent. The fees receivable by each member and chairman of the Committee are included in the table 

on page 53.

Ernst & Young Human Capital provided advice to the Committee on executive remuneration, and long term incentives.

This work comprised the provision of market data, comments on market trends and associated technical advice. All

decisions on the quantum of remuneration and the detail of performance conditions as they apply to Executive Directors

were taken by the Remuneration Committee.

Linklaters LLP provided assistance in relation to the service contracts of the Executive Directors and the appointment

letters of the non-Executive Directors. In addition, the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer attend the Committee

meetings by invitation and assist the Committee in its considerations, except when issues relating to their own

remuneration are discussed. 

3. ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMITTEE

During the year under review, the Committee met four times and it:

c Reviewed the overall remuneration strategy, and the structure and quantum of remuneration for Executive Directors and

other Senior Executives within the Committee’s purview, on the Admission of the Company to the LSE;

REMUNERATION REPORT
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c Approved the rules and performance measures for the long term incentive plans operated by the Company (namely the

Executive Share Growth Plan (‘ESGP’) and Employee Share Option Plan (‘ESOP’)) and consulted with principal shareholders

on the same;

c Determined the awards made under the ESGP to Executive Directors and Senior Executives and the awards proposed

under the ESOP;

c Approved the determination of Key Performance Indicators (‘KPI’) for the payment of bonuses under the Short Term

Incentive Bonus Scheme (‘STIBS’);

c Agreed the Chairman’s remuneration; and

c Approved the Remuneration Report and all relevant AGM business.

ATTENDANCE AT THE COMMITTEE’S MEETINGS IN THE YEAR WAS AS FOLLOWS:

Number of
meetings held Number of

during time in office meetings attended

RW Renwick 2 2
RW Davis 4 4
DJ Elzas 4 4

REMUNERATION REPORT continued

4. RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Committee is committed to open and transparent dialogue with shareholders on remuneration matters. During the

year, the Committee consulted with key institutional investors and various representative bodies to obtain their views on,

and support for, proposals for the long term incentive elements of Directors’ and Senior Executives’ remuneration and the

associated performance conditions. 

5. STATEMENT OF POLICY ON DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

5.1 Non-Executive Directors

The Board determines the fees of non-Executive Directors. When deciding an appropriate level of fee for the

responsibilities undertaken by the non-Executive Directors, the Board considers the responsibility and commitment

required to fulfil the role, taking into account the number of meetings required to be attended, the time required

for reading Board and other papers, the duties associated with membership or chairmanship of the Board committees

or (in the case of Roger Davis) Chairmanship of the Board.

5.2 Executive Directors and Senior Executives

The Committee’s remuneration policy is designed to provide a level of remuneration which attracts, retains and

motivates Directors and Senior Executives of a suitable calibre to execute the Company’s business strategy and

maximise long term shareholder wealth. It is intended that, as far as possible, remuneration policies and practices

will conform to best practice in the markets in which the Company operates and will be aligned with shareholder

interests. The Committee intends that the same remuneration policy will be applied in 2008, but will review the policy

and the Committee’s terms of reference for subsequent years in the light of matters that affect its competitiveness. In

doing so, the Committee will take into account the UK Listing Rules, the provisions of the Combined Code and the

guidance provided by institutional investor representative bodies on the design of performance-related remuneration.

Policies will take account of pay and employment conditions elsewhere in the Company. 

This policy is supported by the following principles:

c Base reward should be set at a level which is in line with the median of other comparator companies;
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c A significant proportion of total remuneration should be ‘at risk’ and conditional on the performance of the 

Group; and

c Performance-related payments will be subject to the satisfaction of challenging performance targets over the

short and long term. These performance targets will be set at an appropriate level to reflect the competitive global

market in which the Group operates and take into account the prospects of the Group, the prevailing economic

environ ment, and the relative performance of comparator companies.

There is no explicit policy of encouraging Executive Directors to maintain a long term shareholding because each

Director acquired and continues to hold a significant stake in the Company. The remuneration policy is considered

sufficient to achieve a continued alignment of interests with shareholders for existing Directors and any new Directors. 

5.3 Benchmarking methodology

In determining the appropriate structure and quantum of remuneration, the Committee reviews remuneration

practices in comparable companies. This comprises United Kingdom listed businesses of similar size to the Company.

The aim of the Committee is to ensure that remuneration packages are competitive and in this way the Committee aims

to avoid generating excessive reward for Executive Directors whilst ensuring that the Company’s total remuneration

structures are capable of reaching median levels where this is warranted by performance. 

5.4 Performance graph 

The primary role of the Directors is to deliver value to shareholders and it is against this backdrop that their

remuneration is determined.

The performance graph below shows the Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR’) for a holding of shares of the Company for the

period commencing at Admission and ending on 31 December 2007. This is compared with the TSR for a hypothetical

holding of shares of the same kind and number in the companies by reference to which the FTSE 250 Index is calculated. 
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6. ELEMENTS OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

6.1 Make up of Executive Directors’ remuneration 

The total remuneration package for Executive Directors comprises the following principal elements: 

c Base salary; 

c Participation in short term incentives in the form of the STIBS; 

c Participation in long term incentives in the form of the ESOP and the ESGP; and

c A cash allowance in lieu of pension and other benefits.

Full details of each element of the Directors’ remuneration packages are set out on page 54.

6.2 Base salary 

The base salary of the Executive Directors is subject to annual review by the Committee. The Committee reviews

external pay data to ensure that the levels of remuneration remain competitive and appropriate in the light of the

Company’s remuneration policy. The Committee is also responsible for ensuring that the positioning of the Company’s

remuneration relative to its peers does not result in increases in remuneration without a corresponding increase in

performance or responsibilities. 

In setting base salary levels, the Committee uses the benchmarking methodology described in 5.3 and has set

base pay at the median level. Whilst the business of the Committee tends to focus on the performance-related

elements of remuneration, it considers that the Company needs to offer fixed pay at this level to attract and retain

suitable Directors and Senior Executives. 

Salaries are based in Sterling and there have been no increases in base salary for the Executive Directors since Admission.

6.3 Pensions and non-cash remuneration

The Company does not operate any pension schemes of which any Director is a member and does not intend to

start a pension scheme for these individuals in the immediate future. Executive Directors are not provided 

with any non-cash benefits as part of their employment. Instead they are given a cash payment equivalent to 7.5%

of their base salary which they can use to purchase benefits as they wish.

6.4 STIBS

Executive Directors and Senior Executives participate in the STIBS, which provides the opportunity to earn an annual

cash bonus determined by assessing corporate and individual performance against a range of annually determined

objectives. The Committee considers that eligibility for short term incentives enhances the focus of participants on

business-critical outcomes. Specific objectives have been agreed with each participant, and levels of attainment

will be evaluated by the Committee, which will determine the amount of bonus to be distributed in any year in

respect of the Executive Directors and Senior Executives.

The bonuses paid in respect of 2007 were based on the achievement of certain business milestones and targets

communicated to shareholders in the Prospectus as summarised in the Chief Executive Officer’s Review on 

page 9. These are divided between objectives common to all participants and personal objectives. These fall under

the following broad headings with the weightings varying according to the role of the individual:

REMUNERATION REPORT continued
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c Achievement of lPO;

c Commitments made in the Prospectus in respect of the operations in the Central African Republic, the

Democratic Republic of Congo, the Letšeng Mine in Lesotho and the Chiri project in Angola;

c To complete the BDI Mining acquisition and subsequent integration; and

c Share price growth in line with a selected peer group.

A threshold level of attainment was set for each element, which is the minimum level at which the Committee

considered any payment could be warranted. At this threshold level, half the maximum amount for that element

was payable. At a stretch level, which represents a significant level of outperformance, the whole of the maximum

amount for that element was payable. 

The maximum bonus payable under the STIBS for Executive Directors is capped at 100% of base salary. The

Committee considers that this level of short term incentive is at the median when compared to companies of

similar scale in the FTSE 250. The Committee subjected the performance against KPIs to a detailed assessment

before authorising payment, and the average bonus pay out for Executive Directors for 2007 was 60% of base salary.

The design of the STIBS will evolve from year to year in line with the Company’s strategic needs. For 2008 it is

intended that the payment of bonuses to Executive Directors and Senior Executives will be linked to the following

targets (with percentage weightings that may vary according to role):

c Operational performance, including safety (30%);

c Business development (30%); and

c Financial performance of the Company (40%).

The relative levels of achievement against these targets, and consequent levels of payment, will be disclosed in the

Remuneration Report following such payments.

6.5 Long term incentives

The Executive Directors are eligible to participate in two long term incentive arrangements, namely the ESOP and 

the ESGP. Each arrangement serves a specific purpose within the Company’s overall remuneration policy, and the

principal terms of each arrangement and the extent of participation are explained below. The Committee does not

currently propose any amendments to the rules of these plans.

The intention is for all long term incentive awards to be satisfied with newly issued shares. Full details of all outstanding

employee share awards are given in Note 30 to the accounts. 

6.5.1 ESOP

Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the ESOP. The aim of the ESOP is to provide incentives to

ensure that those best placed to deliver value for shareholders have a direct personal interest in doing so. 

The ESOP provides for the grant of both conditional awards of free shares (‘Performance Shares’) and share

options with an exercise price not less than the market value at grant date of the underlying shares (‘Options’),

the relative proportions of which are to be determined by the Committee on the occasion of each grant. For

both awards, vesting would be made subject to the achievement of stretching performance conditions.
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The aggregate value of awards granted to Executive Directors in any one year will not, in normal

circumstances, exceed an amount equal to one times their basic salary on the date of grant. The policy of

the Committee is for lower limits to apply to other tiers of participating management. Awards made under

the ESOP are not currently granted under any tax-approved share scheme.

It was stated in the Prospectus that, subject to the Committee’s discretion, it was proposed that in any year

both Performance Shares and Options would be awarded in the ratio of one third Performance Shares and

two thirds Options. The Committee has, however, exercised its discretion to vary the form of the award and

resolved that the award made to Executive Directors following announcement of the Company’s results in

April 2008 will be delivered in the form of Performance Shares only. It was considered that an award

consisting solely of Performance Shares better aligns the Company with current market practice. 

As at the date of this report, no awards have been made to Executive Directors or Senior Executives under

the ESOP. Going forward, the Company intends to make awards under the ESOP on an annual basis to

Executive Directors and Senior Executives in order to reflect existing best practice, and to help align the interests

of management with those of shareholders by encouraging them to build a shareholding in the Company. 

6.5.2 ESOP performance condition

It is anticipated that the vesting of awards to be made to Executive Directors and Senior Executives in April

2008 will be subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions over a three-year period that are

considered appropriately stretching. The performance conditions will be set by the Committee at the time

of grant, and are not capable of being retested at the end of the performance period, so that any Performance

Shares which do not vest after three years will lapse. 

Since the Company’s share price, and those of its peers, is significantly influenced by diamond prices, the

Committee considers TSR relative to an appropriately defined global diamond mining peer group to be an

appropriate performance measure, with a requirement also for demonstrable value creation. The Committee

is satisfied that TSR links the creation of shareholder value with Directors’ remuneration earned through the

successful delivery of the business strategy.

TSR performance is measured relative to two comparator groups as follows:

c 50% of the award will vest according to performance relative to the FTSE 250 Index (with any

investment trusts removed). 

The rationale for this is that the Company is part of the FTSE 250 and use of this Index provides a fair

reflection of its performance against companies of similar scale. 

c 50% will vest according to performance relative to a peer group of nine global diamond mining and

exploration companies and the creation of demonstrable value as measured by shareholder return,

strategic development, asset values and the financial performance of the Company. The constituents

of the peer group are set out in an annex to this report.

In respect of the second comparator group, the Committee recognises that the number of comparators in

this specialised market is limited, but considers the diamond industry to be subject to very different market

pressures to the other extractive industries and that this is, therefore, the fairest basis of comparison. The

bespoke peer group referred to above was preferred to an established mining index (e.g. the HSBC Diamond

Sub-index) on the basis that it provided greater coverage of the diamond mining sector and therefore a

REMUNERATION REPORT continued
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more robust benchmark for performance. As indicated, vesting in relation to this peer group will also

depend on the creation of demonstrable value.

The vesting schedule for awards is as follows, expressed as percentages of the component of the award

vesting, with linear vesting applying between these two points:

VESTING SCHEDULE FOR AWARDS IS AS FOLLOWS:

Global diamond 
mining and

FTSE 250 exploration
peer group peer group

Median (threshold) 30% 30%
Upper Quartile 100% 100%

The TSR of the Company and each member of the peer group over any performance period is calculated

by taking the growth between the closing value and the base value of the shares (in each case averaged

over a one-month period) expressed as a percentage of the base value. Any net dividend per share paid

by any company during the relevant performance period is treated as being reinvested in shares. 

In the event that the calculation is affected by significant corporate events which the Committee considers

materially distorts the performance comparison, the Committee may make suitable adjustments, provided

that it is satisfied that any new or varied performance conditions would be no less demanding. Any such

adjustments would be disclosed to shareholders in the Remuneration Report. The Committee may also adopt

different performance conditions during the life of the ESOP and may vary the ratio of Options and Performance

Shares, with any proposed changes being considered in consultation with shareholders.

6.5.3 ESGP

The ESGP is a separate, and one-off, remuneration arrangement, the details of which were set out in the

Prospectus. Its purpose is to reward very superior performance in the event that it was achieved by the

Company in the three-year period following Admission. As such, the vesting of awards under the ESGP are

subject to very demanding targets for share price growth, which was chosen as the performance measure

on the basis that participants will only be rewarded if significant value has been created for the shareholders.

For the purposes of the performance criterion, the final share price will be the volume weighted average 

price of shares calculated over a 30-day period beginning 15 days prior to the third anniversary of Admission

(i.e. beginning 4 February 2010). No retesting of performance will be allowed.

Dependent on performance, a fixed number of shares will be issued to form a ‘pool’ for the benefit of

participants. The Company made a single grant of awards under the ESGP in 2007 which entitles

participants to shares in the pool at no cost in proportions set out in their awards under the plan. The

Company’s current commitment to issue new shares in respect of the ESGP represents 8.15% of issued

share capital. Further awards will only be made in exceptional circumstances or if there is a change in the

senior team within the performance period. 

As of 3 April 2008 (when the opening price of shares was 880 pence per share), a share price increase in the

region of 45% compound per annum would be required over the next two years for threshold vesting of

awards under the ESGP and 75% compound per annum for maximum vesting. 
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6.6 Payment to former directors

There were no significant awards to former Directors of the Company. AD Stewart received an award under the ESGP

after he had retired from the Board but while he was still a full-time employee (see page 55).

6.7 External appointments 

Apart from some private company interests, no Executive Director holds any significant executive directorship or

appointment outside the Group. Clifford Elphick is a Director of various private companies as listed in the Prospectus.

6.8 Non-Executive Directors

The fees for non-Executive Directors are set at the level considered necessary to obtain the services of individuals

with the relevant skills and experience to bring added depth and breadth to the composition of the Board.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees are reviewed regularly by the Chairman and the Chief Executive based on the roles

they perform and the fees payable to non-Executive Directors of comparable companies. As set out in the Prospectus,

in order to help attract individuals to the Board who could contribute actively to the development of the business

and to align the interests of non-Executive Directors with the other shareholders, the non-Executive Directors were

invited to subscribe for shares at nominal value. Lord Renwick and Richard Williams have elected not to receive any

shares until they have served on the Board for a period of two years. The non-Executive Directors shall not be

eligible to participate in the STIBS, ESOP or ESGP or any other performance-related incentive arrangements which

may be introduced by the Company from time to time. 

Mike Salamon and Richard Williams were appointed as non-Executive Directors of the Board after the year end.

Their remuneration is determined under the same policy that applies to existing non-Executive Directors.
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Contractual 
Salary Contract Unexpired Notice termination

Director £ date term period payment

CT Elphick 356 383 13 February 2007 Rolling contract 6 months Pay salary and
KM Burford 246 816 13 February 2007 Rolling contract 6 months benefits on
G Wheelock 252 200 13 February 2007 Rolling contract 6 months summary
G Turner 246 816 21 January 2008 Rolling contract 6 months termination
AR Ashworth 246 816 01 January 2008 Rolling contract 6 months

There are no special provisions in the contracts extending notice period on a change of control or other corporate event.

THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS:

7.1 Executive Directors

( )

Contractual 
Fee Appointment Unexpired Notice termination

Director £ date term period payment

RW Davis 120 000 1 February 2007 Rolling contract 3 months
RW Renwick 70 000 11 September 2007 Rolling contract 3 months No provision
DJ Elzas 70 000 1 February 2007 Rolling contract 3 months for
GA Beevers 70 000 1 February 2007 Rolling contract 3 months payment of
M Salamon 70 000 3 February 2008 Rolling contract 3 months compensation
RJ Williams 70 000 3 February 2008 Rolling contract 3 months

The non-Executive Directors do not have service contracts but their appointment will typically run for three years after
which they will be required to retire at the Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) held in the third calendar year following the
AGM at which the Director was elected. However, the Board may invite the Director to serve for an additional period
subject to re-election by shareholders. Different provisions apply if the Director remains in office for a period longer than
nine years, consistent with the Combined Code.

NONEXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENT LETTERS:

7.2 Non-Executive Directors

( )

7. ENTITLEMENTS UNDER SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Company’s policy is to comply fully with the provisions of the Combined Code. The details of service contracts and

appointment letters are as follows:
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Cash Full 
payments in year

Salary lieu of non- Total Total  
and fees(i) cash benefits(ii) Bonuses(iii) 2007(iv) 2006 

£ £ £ £ £

Executive
CT Elphick(v) 356 383 24 060 231 649 612 092 701 795
KM Burford 246 816 18 510 148 090 413 416 420 964
G Wheelock 252 200 18 915 126 100 397 215 0
N Leech – – – 0 0
AD Stewart 21 115 1 478 0 22 593 420 964

Non-Executive(vi)

RW Davis 97 051 – – 97 051 0
RW Renwick 18 846 – – 18 846 0
DJ Elzas 55 916 – – 55 916 0
GA Beevers 64 167 – – 64 167 0

1 112 494 62 963 505 839 1 681 296 1 543 723 (iv)

(i) All salaries and fees are paid in cash.

(ii) Payments are made in cash to Directors who purchase benefits.

(iii) Bonuses are in respect of year under review and were paid in the first quarter of 2008. Overall Company performance
is taken into account when determining Directors’ bonuses. 

(iv) The Directors’ total emoluments for the year do not include any fair value share option/award charges.

(v) Highest paid Director.

(vi) The fees payable to non-Executive Directors are not broken down to reflect particular responsibilities.

(vii) No Director received or is due to receive any compensation for loss of office during the year.

(viii) Although the Company’s reporting currency is US Dollars, these figures are stated in Sterling as the Directors’
emoluments are paid in this currency.

(ix) No Director received any expense allowances. 

DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION:

INFORMATION SUBJECT TO AUDIT

8. EMOLUMENTS AND COMPENSATION

Details of the remuneration of each Director who has served in the year settled in cash or at a cash cost to the Company

are shown below. The following table and accompanying notes have been audited.
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9. ENTITLEMENTS UNDER LONG TERM INCENTIVES

Details of long term incentives awarded to Directors during the year are set out below. No price was payable on the grant

and no exercise price is payable to acquire the shares underlying these awards (save for nominal value where shares are

newly issued). No such entitlements existed at the beginning of the year. 

Proportion of   Market price 
the pool  of shares Date that 

subject at date qualifying 
to award of award conditions

Executive Date awarded % (pence) must be met

CT Elphick 20 December 2007 8.33 972 18 February 2010
KM Burford 20 December 2007 8.33 972 18 February 2010
G Wheelock 20 December 2007 8.33 972 18 February 2010
AD Stewart(i) 20 December 2007 2.13 972 18 February 2010

No share awards have yet vested under the ESGP.

(i) AD Stewart was an Executive Director of the Board at incorporation. He retired from that position on 
22 January 2007, but remained a full-time employee of the Company. Subsequent to receiving the award under the
ESGP, he ceased employment with the Company. He will be treated as a good leaver under the plan and his award
did not lapse, however, his entitlement will be pro-rated according to the proportion of the performance period that
had elapsed at that date. There is no acceleration of vesting under the ESGP and any transfers of shares will be
subject to achievement of the performance condition as set out below. 

(ii) The market price of a share at the year end was 970p. The highest and lowest prices in the year were 1 140p 
and 925p.

(iii) The performance condition relating to these awards is such that awards will begin to vest if the share price increases
by 100% in the three years following Admission and maximum vesting occurs when the share price increases by
200%. The total pool of shares at maximum vesting is equivalent to 10% of the issued share capital as at the date
of Admission.

(iv) No awards expired or were varied in the year.

(v) There were no changes to serving Directors’ interests between 31 December 2007 and the date of this report.

DETAILS OF AWARDS TO DIRECTORS:

9.1 Details of awards to Directors under the ESGP
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Number of shares Number of shares
held at held at

Executive 1 January 2007(i) 31 December 2007(ii)

CT Elphick(iii) 6 325 000 9 325 000
KM Burford 680 500 458 333
G Wheelock 680 500 458 333
AD Stewart 680 500 680 500
N Leech – –

(i) G Wheelock as at the date of appointment 22 January 2007.

(ii) AD Stewart and N Leech as at the date of retirement from the Board 22 January 2007.

(iii) Clifford Elphick is interested in these ordinary shares by virtue of his interest as a potential beneficiary in a
discretionary trust which has an indirect interest in those ordinary shares.

EXECUTIVES:

10.1 Executives

Number Market value Future entitlement to shares(ii)

of shares  of shares 
received received Number of 

Non-Executives in the year £ shares Date

RW Davis 289 326 3 237 557 289 326 19 February 2008
RW Renwick(i) Nil Nil 144 664 24 September 2009
DJ Elzas 72 332 809 395 72 332 19 February 2008
GA Beevers 72 332 809 395 72 332 19 February 2008
M Salamon Nil Nil 72 332 19 February 2008
M Salamon – – 72 332 19 February 2009
RJ Williams(i) Nil Nil 144 664 19 February 2010

(i) Lord Renwick and Richard Williams have elected not to receive any shares until such time as they have served
on the Board for at least two years.

(ii) The subscription price of these shares is nominal value. Since 31 December 2007 and the date of this report, 
Roger Davis has received 289 326 shares on the terms set out in his letter of appointment. Dave Elzas, Gavin
Beevers and Mike Salamon have each received 72 332 shares.

NONEXECUTIVES:

10.2 Non-Executives

10. DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AND INTERESTS IN SHARES

Details of interests in the share capital of the Company of those Directors in office as at 31 December 2007 are given

below. As of the date of this report there have been no changes. No Directors was interested in the shares of any

subsidiary company. 

In addition to these interests in shares, the Executive Directors, along with other employees, also have conditional

rights to acquire under the Company’s long term incentive plans, disclosed in Note 30.
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11. PENSIONS

No pension contributions were made in respect of Executive Directors during the year, and no retirement benefits 

were paid.

By order of the Board

Lord Renwick

Chairman, Remuneration Committee

22 April 2008

ANNEX TO THE REMUNERATION REPORT

The constituents of the diamond mining peer group of companies, for the purposes of the ESOP, are set out below:

c Harry Winston Diamond Corporation;

c Shore Gold Inc.;

c Petra Diamonds Limited;

c African Minerals Limited;

c Namakwa Diamonds Limited;

c Mountain Province Diamonds Inc.;

c Rockwell Diamonds Inc.;

c Trans Hex Group Limited; and

c Vaaldiam Resources Limited.

In the event that any of the companies in the peer group are taken over, delisted or otherwise cease to be reasonable

comparators, the Remuneration Committee may make such adjustments to the peer group as it considers fair and reasonable. 





COMBINED CODE COMPLIANCE

The Company, as a British Virgin Islands Incorporated Company, is not required to comply with the Combined Code. However, the

Board is committed to the principle of best practice in corporate governance. This report addresses the status of the Company’s

compliance with the principles and provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued in June 2006 (‘the

Combined Code’), and details the key policies, processes and structures that apply within the Company to comply with the

Combined Code. The Company currently complies with the best practice governance provisions as set out in Section 1 of the

Combined Code.

It is noted, however, that during this first year, post listing, the company was not fully compliant for certain periods. This was

primarily due to the practicalities associated with fully constituting the Board and delegating responsibilities, some of which

was referred to in the Prospectus.

c The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive were split on 24 September 2007 when Roger Davis became Chairman.

c The Audit Committee comprised two members from 28 November 2007 to 22 April 2008 when Richard Williams was

appointed a member.

c The Remuneration Committee comprised two members from 19 February 2007 to 28 November 2007 when Lord Renwick

was appointed.

c The position of Senior Independent Director was vacated on 24 September 2007 when Roger Davis was appointed

Chairman but was filled on 22 April 2008 when Mike Salamon was appointed to the position.

c The Board’s composition was not complete until April 2008 and it was therefore felt and agreed that it would not be

appropriate or effective to undertake an evaluation in 2007. An evaluation will be undertaken in 2008 when the Board has

had time to work together. The outcome, and resultant action of this evaluation, will be provided in the Annual Report 2008.

1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1.1 The role of the Board

The Board is responsible to shareholders for the performance and governance of the Company within a framework of

policies and controls which provide for effective risk assessment and management. The Board provides leadership and

articulates the Company’s objectives and strategy to achieve those objectives. The Board sets standards of conduct

which provide an ethical framework for all of the Company’s business functions. While the Board focuses on strategic

issues, financial performance, risk management and critical business issues, it also has a formal schedule of matters that

it does not delegate. These reserved matters which are documented in a comprehensive list of authorisation levels

and prior approval requirements for key corporate decisions and actions, are reviewed and updated annually by the

Board. Such matters reserved to the Board include, but are not limited to, approval of budgets and business plans,

major capital expenditure, major acquisitions and disposals, and other key commitments. 
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1.2 The composition of the Board

Changes to the Board since the Company was listed on the main market of the London Stock Exchange in 

February 2007 comprise: 

Two new Executive Directors, three new non-Executive Directors and Roger Davis appointed Chairman, and

Graham Wheelock stepped down as a Director. 

The Board, chaired by Roger Davis, is ten in number, comprising four Executive Directors and six non-

Executive Directors. 

c The four Executive Directors are Clifford Elphick, Chief Executive Officer; Kevin Burford, Chief Financial Officer;

Alan Ashworth, Chief Operating Officer; and Glenn Turner, Chief Legal and Commercial Officer.

c The non-Executive Directors possess a range of experience and are of sufficiently high calibre to bring

independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, performance, and resources that are vital to the success

of the Company. 

c They comprise Roger Davis (Chairman); Lord Renwick (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee); Gavin

Beevers (Chairman of the HSSE Committee); Dave Elzas (Chairman of the Audit Committee); Mike Salamon

(Senior Independent Director) and Richard Williams MBE MC. 

1.3 Attendance at Board meetings and Committees of the Board

Three scheduled Board meetings were held during 2007 since unconditional listing of the Company on the main

market of the LSE on 19 February 2007. Attendance by Directors at Board and Committee meetings is shown

below. All Board meetings are held in the United Kingdom.

There are four formally constituted committees of the Board, each of which has formal terms of reference. These

can be viewed on the Company’s website.
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Board meetings
Unscheduled

or Committee
Director Scheduled (3) meetings (7) Audit (3) Remuneration (4) HSSE (3) Nominations (3) 

RW Davis 3 4 2 4 N/A 3
CT Elphick 3 6 N/A N/A N/A 3
KM Burford 3 4 N/A N/A N/A N/A

G Wheelock 3 5 N/A N/A 3 N/A

GA Beevers 3 4 N/A N/A 3 3
DJ Elzas 3 5 3 4 N/A 3
R Renwick1 1 N/A 1 2 N/A 1

1. Appointed 24 September 2007.

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS DURING 2007

1.4 Chairman and Chief Executive

A clear separation is maintained between the responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief Executive which was

established during the year with the appointment of Roger Davis as Chairman in accordance with the Prospectus.

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and its effectiveness while the Chief Executive is responsible for

the overall performance of the Company, including the responsibility for arranging the effective day-to-day

management controls over the running of the Company.



1.5 Board balance and independence

The Company complies with the requirement of the Combined Code that there should be a balance of Executive

and non-Executive Directors such that no individual or small group can dominate the Board’s decision-taking.

Of the six non-Executive Directors, all are considered by the Board to be independent of management. 

Mike Salamon is the Senior Independent non-Executive Director. His role and responsibilities as the Senior

Independent Director are detailed in and formalised by Board resolution and, in summary, are that he should be

available to shareholders to discuss their concerns where the normal channels would not be appropriate for this

purpose; to have contact with analysts and major shareholders to obtain a balanced understanding of their issues

and concerns and to lead the Board and Director appraisal process.

Lord Renwick is vice chairman of JPMorgan Cazenove who are brokers and financial advisors to the Company. He

has no involvement in the provision of broking or finance services to the Company. The Board considers him to be

indisputably independent in character and judgement.

In accordance with the Prospectus and as noted in the Remuneration Report, as part of the appointment of non-

Executive Directors, each non-Executive Director has been given an entitlement to acquire shares. It is considered

that this aligns their interest with that of the shareholders and does not compromise their independence.

The non-Executive Directors have a particular responsibility to ensure that the strategies proposed by the Executive

Directors are fully considered. To enable the Board to discharge its duties, all Directors receive appropriate and

timely information and briefing papers are distributed to all Directors. The letters of appointment of the non-

Executive Directors are available for inspection at the principal place of business of the Company in London.

The Board reviews annually the composition and chairmanship of its committees, namely the Audit, Remuneration,

Nomination and the Health, Safety, Social and Environment Committees.

1.6 Appointments to the Board

The Combined Code requires there to be a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of

new Directors, which should be made on merit and against objective criteria. The Nomination Committee fulfils

these requirements and its report is set out on page 67.

1.7 Information and professional development

All Directors are made aware that they may take independent professional advice at the expense of the Company

in the furtherance of their duties, subject to prior consultation with the Chairman, but have not found the need

so to do. All Directors have access to management and to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who

is responsible to the Board for ensuring that all governance matters are complied with, and assists with professional

development as required.

Arrangements have been approved by the Board to ensure that new Directors should receive a full, formal and tailored

induction on joining the Board. In addition, ongoing support and resources are provided to Directors in order to enable

them to extend and refresh their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Company. Professional development and

training is provided in three complementary ways: regular updating with information on changes and proposed
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changes in laws and regulations affecting the Company or its businesses; arrangements, including site visits, to ensure

Directors are familiar with the Company’s operations; and opportunities for professional and skills training.

1.8 Performance evaluation

Since the Board’s composition was not complete until April 2008, it was felt and agreed that it would not be

appropriate or effective to undertake an evaluation in 2007. It has been agreed, therefore, that an evaluation will

be undertaken in 2008 when the Board has had time to work together. The outcome and resultant action of this

evaluation will be provided in the Annual Report for 2008.

1.9 Re-election of Directors

Under the Combined Code, Directors should offer themselves for re-election at regular intervals and there should

be a planned and progressive refreshing of the Board.

As this is the first Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) following the listing of the Company, it has been agreed all

Directors retire, including those who were Directors at the time of listing, so that the provisions of the Code relating

to retirement by rotation will take effect as from the date of this first AGM.

1.10 Dealings in shares

The Company has a policy based on the Model Code, published in the Listing Rules, which covers dealings in

securities and applies to all Directors, persons discharging managerial responsibilities and employee insiders.

2. REMUNERATION

Remuneration is covered in the Remuneration Report on pages 45 to 57 and, with regard to the Remuneration Committee,

on pages 45 and 46.

3. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

3.1 Financial reporting

The Board is mindful of its responsibility to present a balanced and clear assessment of the Company’s position and

prospects and the Board is satisfied that it has met this obligation. This assessment is primarily provided in the

Chief Executive Officer’s and Chief Financial Officer’s Reviews contained in this report. The Statement of Directors’

Responsibilities in respect of the Financial Statements is set out in the Directors’ Report and can be found on 

page 43.

3.2 Internal control

The Board of Directors is responsible for the Company’s system of internal control, which is embedded in all key

operations. An ongoing process, in accordance with the Guidance of the Turnbull Committee on Internal Control,

has been established for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Company. This

process has been introduced during the year and is now fully operational. The Board relies on reviews undertaken

by the Audit Committee (supported by the relevant operating unit) in relation to the Company’s compliance with

the Turnbull Guidance throughout the year. Regular management reporting, providing a balanced assessment of

key risks and controls, is an important component of Board assurance.
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The Audit Committee reviewed the process by which risks are identified and assessed and the effectiveness of the

system of internal control by considering the regular reports from management on the operation of the risk

assessment process throughout the Company, the key risks identified, mitigating actions and controls, management

representations and assertions, and reports covering the independent assessment of internal control systems from

Internal Audit, the external auditors and other assurance providers such as Health, Safety, Social and Environmental.

The principal aim of the system of internal control is the management of business risks that are significant to the

fulfilment of the Company’s business objectives with a view to enhancing over time the value of the shareholders’

investment and safeguarding the assets. The internal control systems have been designed to manage rather than

eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that

the Company’s business objectives will be achieved within the risk tolerance levels identified by the Board. The

Directors confirm that they have reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control.

3.3 Risk management

The Board considers effective risk management as essential to the achievement of the Company’s objectives and

has implemented a structured and comprehensive system across the Company utilising the services of KPMG LLP.

The Company’s risk management policy aims to cover all significant business risks faced by the Company,

including operational, financial and compliance risks, which could undermine the Company’s ability to achieve

its business objectives.

The Company’s approach to risk management is value driven and has the stated objective of ensuring ‘an

environment in which it can grow shareholder value through developing and protecting staff, the Company’s

assets, the environment in those locations in which it operates, and its reputation’. The process is thorough and

robust and is an essential element of the Company’s approach to business planning.

Each operating unit carries out a comprehensive annual risk review and updates its risk register accordingly.

Objectives in the business plan are aligned with risks and a summary of the key risks, related internal controls,

accountabilities and further mitigating actions, is reviewed and approved by the Board.

Progress against plans, significant changes in the business risk profile and actions taken to address controls and

mitigate risks are reported at each operating unit board and the Board’s Audit Committee and to the Board.

The output of the process has been reviewed by the Company and the respective operating units and accords with

the Turnbull Guidance.

Following the acquisitions of BDI Mining, Gope Exploration and Kimberley Diamonds, an integration programme

has been completed to adopt the necessary policies and procedures within the acquired companies and ensure

ongoing compliance with the Company’s internal control framework.

Information and financial reporting systems

Financial reporting to the Board is continuously modified and enhanced to cater for changing circumstances. The

Company’s comprehensive planning and financial reporting procedures include detailed operational budgets for

the year ahead and a three-year rolling plan. The Board reviews and approves the annual budget and plan. Plans

and budgets are prepared on the basis of consistent economic assumptions determined by the Company’s finance
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function. Performance is monitored and relevant action taken throughout the year through the monthly reporting

of key performance indicators and updated forecasts for the year, together with information on the key risk areas.

In addition, routine comprehensive management reports on an operational and consolidated basis, including

updated forecasts for the year, are prepared and presented to the Board and form a cornerstone of the system of

internal control. Detailed consolidated management accounts, together with an executive summary, are circulated

to Directors prior to each scheduled Board meeting. 

3.4 Investment appraisal

A budgetary process and authorisation levels regulate capital expenditure. For expenditure beyond specified levels,

detailed written proposals are submitted to the Board. There is a standardised approval procedure for investment

appraisal which includes a detailed calculation of return based on economic assumptions that are consistent with

those included in management reports. Reviews are carried out after the project is complete and, for some projects,

during the construction period, to monitor progress against plan and all major overruns are investigated.

Commercial, legal and financial due diligence work, using outside consultants, is undertaken in respect of

acquisitions as appropriate.

3.5 Internal audit

Internal audit is an important element of the overall process by which the Audit Committee and the Board 

obtains the assurance it requires that risks are being properly identified, managed and controlled. An internal 

audit capability was established during the year. Risk-based internal audit plans were prepared for 2008 and

approved by the Audit Committee and reports on achievement of the plans and findings will be presented to the

Audit Committee.

An internal audit function was established during the year. Thus, a full year of internal audit has not been completed

for 2007. The programme going forward covers all operating units, focusing in particular on the more significant

risks and related internal controls identified in the risk self-assessment process. Findings and agreed actions will be

reported to management and the Audit Committee.

The internal audit function is provided by KPMG LLP as an outsourced service provider.

3.6 Whistleblowing programme

There is a formal mechanism to report fraud and irregularities and investigate reports plus whistle blowing procedures.

These are independently operated confidential free phone hotlines, in each country in which the Company

operates, through which employees can report any breach of the Company’s business principles, including fraud. 

All incidents reported are fully investigated and the results are reported to the Audit Committee. 

3.7 External audit

A principle of the Combined Code is that the Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for

considering how it should apply the financial reporting and internal control principles and for maintaining an

appropriate relationship with the external auditors, Ernst & Young LLP. These responsibilities are delegated to and

are discharged by the Audit Committee whose work is described on pages 65 to 67.
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4. RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

4.1 Dialogue with shareholders

The Board places considerable importance on effective communication with shareholders. The Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assisted by the Corporate Affairs Manager, maintain regular dialogue with and

give briefings throughout the year to analysts and institutional investors and are involved in a structured

programme of investor, analyst and media site visits. Presentations are given by the Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer after the Company’s announcement of the year end results and at the half year. Any concerns

raised by a shareholder in relation to the Company and its affairs are communicated to the Board as a whole. Care

is taken to ensure that any price-sensitive information is released to all shareholders, institutional and private, at the

same time in accordance with the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the Financial Services Authority.

All shareholders can obtain access to the Annual Report and other current information about the Company through

the Company’s website at www.gemdiamonds.com. The Chief Executive’s and Financial Officers’ Reviews on pages

9 to 26 include a detailed report on the business and future developments.

4.2 Constructive use of the AGM

This year will be the Company’s first AGM as a listed company. All Directors will attend the AGM, notice of which

is enclosed herewith, where shareholders will be invited to ask questions during the meeting and to meet Directors

after the formal proceedings have ended. Shareholders at the meeting will be advised as to the level of proxy votes

received, including percentages for and against and the abstentions in respect of each resolution following each

vote on a show of hands. The results of the resolutions will be announced through the Regulatory News Service

and on the Company’s website.

The Board uses the AGM to communicate with institutional and private investors and welcomes their participation.

At the AGM on 4 June 2008, the Chairman and the Chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination and HSSE

Committees will be present to answer questions. Details of the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM on 4 June

2008 can be found in the Notice of the Meeting. In accordance with the Combined Code, notice of the AGM and

related papers will be sent to shareholders at least 20 working days before the meeting.

5. COMMITTEES

5.1 Board committees

Subject to those mattes reserved for its decision, the Board delegates certain responsibilities to a number of

standing committees – the Audit, Remuneration Nomination and HSSE Committees. The terms of reference of the

Audit, Remuneration, Nominations and HSSE Committees are available on the Company’s website.

5.2 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee’s primary role is to ensure the integrity of financial reporting and the audit process and that

a sound risk management and internal control system is maintained. In doing so, the Audit Committee assists the

Company’s Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities with regard to financial reporting, external and

internal audits and controls, including reviewing the annual financial statements, considering the scope of the

Company’s annual external audit and the extent of non-audit work undertaken by external auditors, approving the

internal audit programme, advising on the appointment of external auditors and reviewing the effectiveness of the

Company’s internal control systems.
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The Combined Code recommends that all members of the Audit Committee should be non-Executive Directors,

all of whom are independent in character and judgement and free from relationships or circumstances which are

likely to affect, or could appear to affect, their judgement. The Audit Committee comprises three independent

non-Executive Directors, Dave Elzas (Chairman of the Committee), Lord Renwick and Richard Williams MBE MC.

The Committee met three times in the year. Four meetings are scheduled for 2008.

The Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer and a representative of the Company’s internal and external auditors

normally attend the meetings. Other Directors of the Company and, by invitation, Senior Executives may also

attend and speak, but not vote at any meeting of the Audit Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee: 

c reviewed, for submission to the Board, the 2006 annual financial statements, the 2007 interim results and in

April 2008, reviewed the 2007 annual financial statements and the external and internal auditor’s detailed

reports thereon; 

c reviewed the appropriateness of the Company’s accounting policies; 

c reviewed Management Reports prior to approval of the interim and annual accounts and before the audit.

The Management Report covers areas involving significant judgement, estimation or uncertainty, including

assessment of fair values, quality of earnings, taxation, treasury, reserves and resources, legal matters and the

appropriateness of preparing the financial statements on a going-concern basis; 

c reviewed reports from the external auditor on issues arising from their work; 

c reviewed the external auditor’s plan and scope for the audit of the Company accounts, including updated

plans following the Company’s various acquisitions, and approved their remuneration both for audit and non-

audit work, and their terms of engagement; 

c recommended to the Board the re-appointment of the external auditors following an evaluation of their

effectiveness and confirmation of auditor objectivity and independence; 

c examined the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management system, including its risk management process

and profile and the Company’s internal control systems and operations, and received reports on internal control

raised in operating unit management representation letters. The Committee received reports of the internal

control environment at various acquisitions which was considered to be effective; 

c approved the statement on the process by which the Committee and the Board reviews the effectiveness of

internal control; 

c reviewed the structure and limits of the Company’s insurance policies which were considered to 

be appropriate; 

c reviewed and approved the internal audit plans for 2008, including updated plans following the various

acquisitions, the effectiveness of the internal audit function; 

c evaluated the performance of the Committee; and

c oversaw the introduction of a whistleblowing arrangement throughout the Company. 

5.3 External audit 

Following each Audit Committee meeting, separate meetings were held by the Committee with each of the

following on their own:

c the external auditors;

c internal auditors; and

c the executive management.
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The Company has a specific standard governing the conduct of non-audit work by the external auditors which

ensures that the Company is in compliance with the requirements of the Code and the Ethical Standards for

Auditors published by the Auditing Practices Board.

The auditors are permitted to provide non-audit services that are not in conflict with auditor independence. Periodic

reports are made to the Audit Committee detailing non-audit fees paid to both the external and internal auditors.

The Committee’s assessment of the external auditors’ performance and independence, underpins its recommendation

to the Board to propose to shareholders the re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as auditors until the conclusion of

the AGM in 2009. Resolutions to authorise the Board to re-appoint and determine their remuneration will be proposed

at the AGM on 4 June 2008.

5.4 Remuneration Committee

The details of the Remuneration Committee and its operation can be found on pages 45 and 46 of the

Remuneration Report.

5.5 Nominations Committee

The Nominations Committee comprises three non-Executive Directors and one Executive Director. The Chairman

of the Committee is Roger Davis with Lord Renwick and Mike Salamon the other non-Executive Directors, and

Clifford Elphick as the Executive Director. The terms of reference provide for a formal and transparent procedure.

The Committee has responsibility to identify, evaluate and recommend candidates for Board vacancies and to

make recommendations on Board composition and balance. Three meetings were held in 2007.

During the year, the Nominations Committee:

c reviewed a shortlist of potential candidates as additional non-Executive Directors with broad international

experience;

c reviewed the composition of various committees following the appointment of Roger Davis as Chairman;

c appointed new non-Executive Directors; and

c appointed new Executive Directors.

5.6 Health, Safety, Social and Environment (‘HSSE’) Committee

The Board has established a HSSE Committee to assist the Board in developing framework policies and guidelines

for the management of sustainable development issues, including health, safety, CSR and environment issues, and

to ensure their implementation within the Company. The HSSE Committee provides the Board with additional

focus and guidance on key global HSSE issues. Three meetings were held in 2007.

The Committee comprises Gavin Beevers (non-Executive Director), who chairs the Committee, Graham Wheelock

(Chief Mineral Resources Manager) and Glenn Turner (Chief Legal and Commercial Officer). 

During the year, the HSSE Committee: 

c visited and inspected each of the Group’s operating sites; 

c monitored and evaluated reports on the implementation and effectiveness of HSSE policy, HSSE performance

and HSSE governance; 
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c monitored and evaluated the implementation and effectiveness of the HSSE assurance programme; 

c monitored and evaluated reports on HSSE incidents and the results of investigations into critical HSSE incidents; 

c received legal advice on HSSE obligations and HSSE governance arrangements across the business; 

c reviewed the HSSE Committee’s terms of reference;

c monitored and evaluated new developments, issues and/or relevant legislation on HSSE matters; and

c reviewed and updated the HSSE policies which are available on the Company’s website.

By order of the Board

André Confavreux
AG Confavreux

Company Secretary

22 April 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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TO THE MEMBERS OF GEM DIAMONDS LIMITED
We have audited the Group financial statements of Gem Diamonds Limited (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries (together

‘the Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2007 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated

Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the related

notes 1 to 30. These Group financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have

also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited. 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our letter of engagement.

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state

to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume

responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report,

or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities. The Directors are

also responsible for the preparation of the Remuneration Report, which they have chosen to prepare, in accordance with the

Companies Act 1985.

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements

and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). The Company has also instructed us to audit the section of the

Remuneration Report of the Company that has been described as audited.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give a true and fair view. We also report to you

our opinion as to whether the section of the Remuneration Report of the Company that has been described as audited has

been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. 

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the

2006 Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does

not. We are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group

financial statements. The other information comprises only the Chairman’s Review, Chief Executive Officer’s Review, Chief

Financial Officer’s Review, Annual Resource Statement, Sustainability Review, Directors Report, the unaudited part of the

Remuneration Report of the Company and the Corporate Governance Report. We consider the implications for our report 

if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Group financial statements. 

Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.



Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices

Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the Group financial

statements and the part of the Remuneration Report of the Company that has been described as audited. It also includes an

assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the Group financial statements,

and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in 

order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements and the part of 

the Remuneration Report of the Company to be audited, are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other

irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the Group

financial statements, and the part of the Remuneration Report of the Company that has been described as audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:

c the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards of the

state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2007 and of its profit for the year then ended; and

c the part of the Remuneration Report of the Company to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the

Companies Act 1985.

Ernst & Young LLP

London

22 April 2008

71

Annual Report 2007



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

12 months ended 6 months ended
31 December 31 December

(US$’000) Note 2007 2006

Revenue 3 152 706 50 441
Cost of sales 4 (64 759) (20 773)

GROSS PROFIT 87 947 29 668
Royalties and sales costs (16 558) (3 937)
Corporate expenses (17 371) (7 809)
Share-based payments 30 (19 531) –
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) 14 654 (9 284)
Other income 245 4

OPERATING PROFIT 5 49 386 8 642
Net finance income/(costs) 6 20 085 (235)

Finance income 23 363 3 354
Finance costs (3 278) (3 589)

Share of loss in associate 12 (1 030) (525)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 68 441 7 882
Income tax expense 7 (27 941) (7 543)

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 40 500 339

Attributable to:
Equity holders of parent 23 227 (5 121)
Minority interest 17 273 5 460

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 40 500 339

Earnings per share
– Basic, for profit/(loss) for the period attributable to

equity holders of the parent (cents) 8 40 (24)
– Diluted, for profit/(loss) for the period attributable to

equity holders of the parent (cents) 8 40 (24)

FOR THE
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

31 December 31 December
(US$’000) Note 2007 2006

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 863 529 192 332
Intangible assets 10 71 685 27 958
Investment in associate 12 – 20 044
Loans owing by associate 13 – 14 783
Other assets 14 2 366 –
Deferred taxation 15 962 481

938 542 255 598

Current assets
Inventories 16 41 145 7 315
Receivables 17 12 505 13 017
Loans receivable 18 1 663 8 719
Cash and cash equivalents 19 183 536 51 907

238 849 80 958

TOTAL ASSETS 1 177 391 336 556

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Issued share capital 20 624 253
Share premium 20 787 487 162 775
Treasury shares (3) –
Other reserves 20 56 968 4 724
Retained income/(accumulated losses) 8 243 (14 984)

853 319 152 768
Minority interest 20 81 361 45 319

TOTAL EQUITY 934 680 198 087

Non-current liabilities
Other financial liabilities 21 16 688 51 014
Provisions 22 22 529 2 584
Deferred taxation 15 110 684 46 759
Trade and other payables 23 421 317

150 322 100 674

Current liabilities
Other financial liabilities 21 15 330 9 304
Trade and other payables 23 64 995 21 736
Income tax payable 10 362 6 755
Bank overdraft 19 1 702 –

92 389 37 795

TOTAL LIABILITIES 242 711 138 469

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1 177 391 336 556

AS AT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Other reserves

(Accu-
Share- mulated

Issued based Reval- losses)/
share Share Treasury equity uation retained Minority

(US$’000) capital premium shares FCTR1 reserve reserve income interest Total

Balance at 1 July 2006 170 59 705 – (48) 2 362 – (9 863) – 52 326
Share capital issued 83 108 378 – – – – – – 108 461
Total recognised income

and expenses for the period – – – 2 410 – – (5 121) 5 413 2 702

Foreign currency
translation reserve – – – 2 410 – – – (47) 2 363

Loss for the period – – – – – – (5 121) 5 460 339

Transaction costs on
share capital issued – (5 308) – – – – – – (5 308)

Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – – – – 42 527 42 527
Dividends declared – – – – – – – (2 621) (2 621)

Balance at 31 December 2006 253 162 775 – 2 362 2 362 – (14 984) 45 319 198 087

Share capital issued 371 665 618 (3) – – – – – 665 986
Total recognised income

and expenses for the period – – – 12 189 – – 23 227 17 273 52 689

Foreign currency
translation reserve – – – 12 189 – – – – 12 189

Profit for the period – – – – – – 23 227 17 273 40 500

Transaction costs on
share capital issued – (40 906) – – – – – – (40 906)

Share-based payments – – – – 20 267 – – – 20 267
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – – 19 788 – 22 069 41 857
Dividends declared – – – – – – – (3 300) (3 300)

Balance at 31 December 2007 624 787 487 (3) 14 551 22 629 19 788 8 243 81 361 934 680

1. Foreign currency translation reserve.

Refer to Note 20, Issued share capital and reserves for further information.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

12 months ended 6 months ended
31 December 31 December

(US$’000) Note 2007 2006

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated by operations 24.1 76 506 13 962
Working capital adjustments 24.2 (29 190) 244

47 316 14 206
Finance income 23 363 3 354
Finance costs (2 913) (2 258)
Tax paid (18 188) (604)
Dividends paid to minorities (5 921) –

43 657 14 698

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (109 621) (7 911)
Purchase of intangible assets (683) (439)
Loans and receivables repaid/(granted) 5 281 (11 740)
Purchase of other assets (229) 3
Acquisitions 24.3 (390 624) (118 524)
Loans acquired (44 617) –
Proceeds from disposal of group held for sale 24.4 27 017 –

(513 476) (138 611)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds on share capital issued 20 636 277 108 461
Proceeds on issue of bonds – 52 500
Transaction costs on share capital issued 20 (29 340) (5 308)
Transaction costs on issue of bonds – (2 739)
Financial liabilities repaid (8 841) (1 550)

598 096 151 364

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 128 277 27 451

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 51 907 23 750
Foreign exchange revaluations 1 650 706

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 19 181 834 51 907

FOR THE
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NOTES TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.1 Corporate information

1.1.1 Incorporation and authorisation

The holding company, Gem Diamonds was incorporated on 29 July 2005 in the British Virgin Islands. The Company’s
registration number is 669758.

These Financial Statements were authorised for issue by the Board on 22 April 2008. 

1.1.2 Operational information

The financial results for the 12-month period to 31 December 2007 and six-month period to 31 December 2006 are fully
disclosed in the attached financial statements. In the prior year, the Company changed its year end from June to
December and therefore the comparative figures represent a six-month period.

The Company has the following investments directly in subsidiaries at 31 December 2007.

Cost Country of 
Name of Company Shareholding of investment incorporation Nature of business

Subsidiaries
Gem Diamond Technical 100% US$17 South Africa Geographical, financial and
Services (Proprietary) Limited1 management consulting
(‘GDTS’) services to the diamond

industry.

Gem Diamond Mining 100% US$50 000 Democratic Diamond mining, evaluation
Company of Africa (RDC) SPRL1 Republic of Congo and development, and holder
(‘Gem DRC’) of mining licences and

concessions.

Gem Equity Group Limited1 100% US$50 000 British Virgin Dormant investment company
Islands holding 1% in Gem Diamond

Mining Company of Africa
(RDC) SPRL.

Gem Diamond Longatshimo 80% US$481 000 Democratic Diamond mining, evaluation
Mining Company (RDC) SPRL2 Republic of Congo and development, and holder
(‘Gem Longatshimo’) of mining licences and

concessions. 

Gem Diamond 75% US$96 022 Central Diamond mining, evaluation
Centrafrique SARL¹ African Republic and development, and holder
(‘Gem CAR’) of mining licences and

concessions. 

Letšeng Diamonds 70% US$126 000 303 Kingdom Diamond mining and holder
(Proprietary) Limited3 of Lesotho of mining rights.
(‘Letšeng Diamonds’)

Kabongo Development 100% US$68 380 742 Democratic Diamond mining, evaluation
Company (RDC) SPRL4 Republic of Congo and development, and holder
(‘KDC’) of mining licences and

concessions. 

Gope Exploration 100% US$27 752 144 Bostwana Diamond mining, evaluation
Company (Proprietary) Limited4 and development, and 
(‘Gope Exploration’) holder of mining licences 

and concessions. 

FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER
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1.1.2 Operational information continued

Cost Country of 
Name of Company Shareholding of investment incorporation Nature of business

BDI Mining Corp4 100% US$81 978 699 British Virgin Investment company holding
(‘BDI Mining’) Islands 80% in PT Galuh Cempaka.

Gem Diamonds Australia Holdings4 100% US$294 330 766 Australia Investment company holding
100% in Kimberley Diamonds

1. Companies formed and incorporated by the Group. No changes in the shareholding since the prior period.
2. An additional 8% was acquired during the current year.
3. Subsidiary acquired during the previous period. No change in the shareholding since the prior period.
4. Subsidiary acquired during the year. Details of the net asset value at the date of the acquisition is disclosed in Note 1.1.4, Acquisitions.

1.1.3 Segment information

The primary segment reporting format is geographical as the Group’s risks and rates of return are affected
predominantly by differences in the geographical regions of the mines and areas in which the Group operates. Other
regions where no direct mining activities take place are combined into a single geographical region. The main
geographical regions are:

– Kingdom of Lesotho (‘Lesotho’)
– Australia
– Indonesia
– Bostwana
– Democratic Republic of Congo (‘DRC’)
– Central African Republic (‘CAR’)
– British Virgin Islands and South Africa (Provision of technical and administrative services) (‘BVI and South Africa’)

Secondary segment information is reported on business activities. The main business activities are:

– Mining activities of known diamond resources. These include all elements of diamond mining, including exploitation
of kimberlite and lamproite pipes and alluvial deposits (‘Mining activities’);

– Exploration and resource development activities involving determination of technical feasibility and assessment of
commercial viability of identified resources (‘Exploration and resource development activities’); and

– Group function and provision of technical and administrative services (‘Group services’).

Inter-segment transactions are entered into under terms agreed between the parties. Segment revenue, segment expense
and segment results include transactions between segments. Those transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

1.1.3 Segment information continued

Primary reporting – geographical segments:
The following table presents revenue and profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Group’s
geographical segments for the periods.

BVI
Year ended and
31 December 2007 Indo- Bots- South
US$’000 Lesotho Australia DRC nesia wana CAR Africa Total

Sales
Total sales 151 905 – 249 76 – – 14 180 166 410 
Inter-segment sales – – – – – – (13 704) (13 704)

Sales to external customers 151 905 – 249 76 – – 476 152 706 

Segment results 80 189 5 895 (1 632) (6 373) (80) 1 735 (30 348) 49 386

Net finance income 20 085
Share of loss in associate (1 030)

Profit before taxation 68 441
Income tax expense (27 941)

Profit for the period 40 500 

Assets
Segment assets 324 261 409 453 175 233 114 025 39 954 14 813 99 652 1 177 391

Total assets 324 261 409 453 175 233 114 025 39 954 14 813 99 652 1 177 391

Segment liabilities 87 693 55 199 35 186 31 243 1 052 436 31 902 242 711

Other segment information
Capital expenditure
– Property, plant

and equipment 68 357 303 235 142 737 106 436 36 823 7 459 10 891 675 938 
– Intangible assets – – 26 691 16 124 – 66 – 42 881
Depreciation 14 803 3 002 723 4 167 3 733 489 23 920 
Other non-cash flow items
– Share based

equity transactions 2 159 – 758 98 54 257 16 941 20 267
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1.1.3 Segment information continued

Period ended 31 December 2006
(6 months) BVI and 
US$’000 Lesotho DRC CAR South Africa Total

Sales
Total sales 50 330 – – 3 458 53 788
Inter-segment sales – – – (3 347) (3 347)

Sales to external customers 50 330 – – 111 50 441

Segment results 24 133 (823) (202) (14 466) 8 642

Net finance income (235)
Share of loss in associate (525)

Profit before taxation 7 882
Income tax expense (7 543)

Profit for the period 339

Assets
Segment assets 253 067 16 664 7 279 39 502 316 512 
Investment in associate – 20 044 – – 20 044 

Total assets 253 067 36 708 7 279 39 502 336 556 

Segment liabilities 67 851 414 254 69 950 138 469 

Other segment information
Capital expenditure
– Property, plant and equipment 188 996 204 3 161 119 192 480 
– Intangible assets 26 771 439 – – 27 210 
Depreciation 6 550 24 148 47 6 769 
Other non-cash flow items
– Share based equity transactions – – – – –
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

1.1.3 Segment information continued

Secondary reporting – business segments
The following table presents revenue and certain asset information regarding the Group’s business segments for 
the periods.

Year ended 31 December 2007 Exploration
and

Mining resource Group
US$’000 activities development services Total

Sales
Total sales 152 230 – 14 180 166 410
Inter-segment sales – – (13 704) (13 704)

Sales to external customers 152 230 – 476 152 706

Other segment information
Segment assets 847 738 229 999 99 654 1 177 391
Investment in associate – – – –

Total assets 847 738 229 999 99 654 1 177 391

Capital expenditure
– Property, plant and equipment 478 028 187 019 10 891 675 938
– Intangible assets 16 124 26 757 – 42 881

Period ended 31 December 2006 (6 months) Exploration
and

Mining resource Group
US$’000 activities development services Total

Sales
Total sales 50 330 – 3 458  53 788 
Inter-segment sales – – (3 347) (3 347)

Sales to external customers 50 330 – 111  50 441

Other segment information
Segment assets 253 067 23 942 39 503 316 512
Investment in associate – 20 044 – 20 044

Total assets 253 067 43 986 39 503 336 556 

Capital expenditure
– Property, plant and equipment 188 996 3 365 119 192 480
– Intangible assets 26 771 439 – 27 210
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1.1.4 Acquisitions

Acquisition of BDI Mining
On 29 May 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of BDI Mining, a diamond mining and gold exploration
group which owned a producing alluvial diamond mine and a gold development project. BDI Mining through its
indirect wholly owned subsidiary, Ashton MMC Pte Limited, owns 80% in PT. Galuh Cempaka, which holds the mining
rights to Cempaka Diamond Mine in Indonesia. BDI Mining also indirectly owned 100% of Woodlark Mining Limited
which owns the Woodlark Gold Project located in Papua New Guinea. The Group disposed of Woodlark Mining Limited
on 30 June 2007, of which the details are outlined in Note 24.4, Proceeds from disposal group held for sale.

The provisional fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of BDI Mining as at the date of acquisition and the
corresponding carrying amounts immediately before the acquisition were:

Carrying Recognised
values at  values at

acquisition acquisition 

Property, plant and equipment 13 670 80 681 
Intangible assets 303 42 
Other financial assets 10 10 
Inventories 212 309 
Trade and other receivables 539 539 
Cash and cash equivalents 3 739 3 739 

18 473 85 320
Held for sale assets 12 347 25 301

Total assets 30 820 110 621

Financial liabilities 2 145 2 157 
Trade and other payables 5 039 5 021 
Deferred tax liabilities – 21 315 
Provisions 287 392 
Income tax payable 2 352 4 650 

9 823 33 535
Held for sale liabilities 19 19

Total liabilities 9 842 33 554 

Net assets 20 978 77 067 

Fair value of net assets 77 067 
Less: Minority interest (11 172)

Attributable portion of fair value of net assets acquired 65 895 
Plus: Goodwill on acquisition 16 083 

Total cost 81 978 

The total cost of the combination was US$82.0 million which comprised
the purchase consideration and directly attributable costs associated
with the acquisition.

Cash outflow on acquisition
Purchase consideration 81 978 
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (3 756)

Net cash paid 78 222

From the date of acquisition, BDI Mining has contributed US$0.1 million to revenue and incurred a loss of US$6.1 million.

If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, BDI Mining would have contributed US$2.5 million
to revenue and a loss of US$13.7 million to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

1.1.4 Acquisitions continued

The goodwill arises as a result of the requirement to recognise a deferred tax liability calculated as the difference
between the tax effect of the fair value of the assets and liabilities and their tax bases. As detailed in Note 11, Impairment
of goodwill, this balance was subject to impairment testing as at 31 December 2007 and it has been determined that
no impairment existed.

Acquisition of KDC
During 2006, the initial 49.99% share capital of KDC was acquired for US$18.0 million. During October 2007, the Group
acquired the remaining 50.01% share capital of the company for US$56.1 million, resulting in KDC now being a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group. As part of the latest acquisition, the shareholder’s loan of US$5.9 million was acquired,
resulting in a net share purchase cost of US$50.2 million.

The provisional fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of KDC as at the date of acquisition and the corresponding
carrying amounts immediately before the acquisition were:

Carrying Recognised
values at  values at

acquisition acquisition 

Property, plant and equipment 34 428 134 133 
Intangible assets 18 18 
Deferred tax asset 1 428 – 
Inventories 1 242 1 242 
Trade and other receivables 530 530 
Cash and cash equivalents 214 214 

37 860 136 137

Financial liabilities 43 377 43 377 
Trade and other payables 1 812 1 813 
Deferred tax liabilities – 29 510 
Provisions 271 613 
Income tax payable 1 1 

45 461 75 314 

Net (liabilities)/assets (7 601) 60 823 

Fair value of net assets 60 823 
Plus: Post acquisition loss of associate acquired 1 736 
Less: Revaluation surplus (19 783)

Attributable portion of fair value of net assets acquired 42 776 
Plus: Goodwill on acquisition 25 604 

Total cost 68 380 

Cash outflow on acquisition
Purchase consideration 68 380 
Initial acquisition (18 000)
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (214)

Net cash paid 50 166 

From the date of acquisition, KDC has contributed US$0.3 million to revenue and incurred a loss of US$2.5 million.
The entity is currently in the resource development phase.

If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, KDC would have contributed US$0.3 million to revenue
and a loss of US$7.9 million to the Group.

The goodwill arises as a result of the requirement to recognise a deferred tax liability calculated as the difference
between the tax effect of the fair value of the assets and liabilities and their tax bases. As detailed in Note 11, Impairment
of goodwill, this balance was subject to impairment testing as at 31 December 2007 and it has been determined that
no impairment existed.
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1.1.4 Acquisitions continued

Acquisition of Kimberley Diamonds
On 26 November 2007, the Group acquired a controlling interest in Kimberley Diamonds, an Australian diamond mining
company which owns the Ellendale Mine in Australia. Ellendale is renowned for its fancy yellow diamonds. At year end,
the Group held an effective 96% of the issued share capital with the compulsory acquisition of the remaining 4% of the
share capital completed subsequent to year end. Kimberley Diamonds also holds a 39% interest in Blina Diamonds NL
(‘Blina’), an ASX listed alluvial diamond mining and exploration company.

Blina is consolidated on the grounds of effective control even though the Group owns less than 50% of the shares. The
Group is able to govern the financial and operating policies of the company by virtue of being the largest single
shareholder of the company and dominating the composition of Blina’s board of directors, thereby having the ability
to cast the majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors.

During the year, the Group entered into a hedge to protect the US$ purchase price of the acquisition of Kimberley
Diamonds in Australia. The transaction closed out during the course of the year and the cost of the acquisition was
accounted for at the hedge rate. No amounts were credited to equity or to profit and loss.

The provisional fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Kimberley Diamonds as at the date of acquisition
and the corresponding carrying amounts immediately before the acquisition were:

Carrying Recognised
values at  values at

acquisition acquisition 

Property, plant and equipment 175 533 301 225 
Other assets 1 938 1 938 
Investments 21 21 
Inventories 13 697 14 370 
Trade and other receivables 2 471 2 471 
Cash and cash equivalents 659 659 

194 319 320 684 

Financial liabilities 26 237 26 237 
Trade and other payables 25 172 25 172 
Provisions 8 508 8 508 

59 917 59 917

Net assets 134 402 260 767 

Fair value of net assets 260 767 
Less: Minority interest (10 897)

Total cost 249 870 

Cash outflow on acquisition
Purchase consideration 249 870 
Outstanding payment on purchase (14 487)
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (659)

Net cash paid 234 724 

From the date of acquisition, Kimberley Diamonds has not contributed to revenue and incurred a loss of US$1.1 million.

If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, Kimberley Diamonds would have contributed 
US$68.1 million to revenue and a loss of US$36.4 million to the Group.

Acquisition of Gope Exploration
The Group acquired 100% of Gope Exploration for a total cost consideration of US$34.1 million. The effective date of
the acquisition was 15 May 2007, the day the last suspensive condition was met. The Company holds a retention licence
in Botswana. A known kimberlite pipe lies within the area of this retention licence. The acquisition of Gope Exploration
is considered to be an asset acquisition and is not recognised as a business combination.
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Acquisition of Letšeng Diamonds
On 1 July 2006, the Group acquired 70% of the share capital of Letšeng Diamonds, an unlisted company in Lesotho
which holds the mining rights and operational assets of the Letšeng Diamond Mine.

The final fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Letšeng Diamonds as at the date of acquisition and the
corresponding carrying amounts immediately before the acquisition were:

Carrying Recognised
values at  values at

acquisition acquisition 

Property, plant and equipment 31 408 184 386 
Inventories 4 854 4 854 
Trade and other receivables 2 144 2 144 
Cash and cash equivalents 8 074 8 074 

46 480 199 458 

Financial liabilities 1 441 3 684 
Trade and other payables 5 757 5 757 
Deferred tax liabilities 7 099 45 343 
Provisions 2 409 2 409 
Income tax payable 509 509 

17 215 57 702 

Net assets 29 265 141 756 

Fair value of net assets 141 756 
Less: Minority interest (42 527)

99 229 
Plus: Goodwill on acquisition 26 771 

Cost 126 000 

Cost
Purchase consideration 131 096 
Costs associated with the acquisition 188 
Sale of 3% to the Government of Lesotho (5 284)

126 000 

Cash outflow on acquisition
Purchase consideration 126 000 
Outstanding payment on sale (4 498)
Outstanding amount due on sale of 3% to the Government of Lesotho 5 284 
Costs associated with the acquisition paid in prior period (188)
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (8 074)

Net cash paid 118 524 

Letšeng Diamonds was acquired in the prior year and therefore its results have been included in the Group results for
the full year.
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1.2 Summary of significant accounting policies

1.2.1 Basis of presentation

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (‘IFRS’). These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except as modified by
the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets and liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) at fair value
through profit or loss. The accounting policies have been consistently applied.

The functional currency of the Company, and certain of its subsidiaries is the US Dollar, which is the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entities operate. All amounts are expressed in US Dollars. The financial
statements of subsidiaries whose functional and reporting currency is in currencies other than the US Dollar have been
converted into US dollars on the basis as set out in Note 1.2.13, Foreign currency translation reserve.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 1.2.24, Critical accounting estimates and judgements.

The Group has also adopted the following disclosure standards from 1 January 2007, both of which affect disclosures
in the financial statements but neither of which have had any impact on Group earnings or equity in the current or 
prior periods:
– IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (refer to Note 28);
– IAS 1 ‘Amendment: Capital disclosure’;
– IFRIC 8 ‘Scope of IFRS 2’; and
– IFRIC 14 ‘The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction’.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective
The following is the present list of standards and interpretations that have been issued and are not yet effective:

Standard or
interpretation Effective date ** Date issued

IFRS 8 Operating Segments January 2009 November 2006

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements January 2009 September 2007

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs January 2009 March 2007

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions March 2007 November 2006

** Annual periods beginning on or after.

The Group has not early adopted any of these standards. The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these
standards and interpretations will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial
application once adopted.

Business environment and country risk
The Group’s operations are subject to country risk being the economic, political and social risks inherent in doing
business in certain areas of Africa, Indonesia and Australia. These risks include matters arising out of the policies of the
government, economic conditions, imposition of or changes to taxes and regulations, foreign exchange rate
fluctuations and the enforceability of contract rights.

The consolidated financial information reflect management’s assessment of the impact of these African business
environments on the operations and the financial position of the Group. The future business environment may differ
from management’s assessment.

1.2.2 Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

On acquisition the Group recognises and consolidates the subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities at fair value, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. Assets classified as held-for-sale are recognised
at fair value less costs to sell. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the
consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
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appropriate. Any losses applicable to the minority interest in excess of the minority interest are allocated against the
interests of the parent.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries of the Group. The cost of an
investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:
– the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued

by the company; plus
– any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement. An adjustment to the cost of a
business combination contingent on future events is included in the cost of the combination if the adjustment is
probable and can be measured reliably.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used
into line with those used by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method, except when the asset is classified as held-for-
sale. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased or
decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the profits or losses of the associate from the date acquired. The use of the
equity method is discontinued from the date the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or it
becomes a subsidiary.

The excess of the cost over the company’s interests in the net fair value of an associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities, at the date of acquisition, is accounted for as goodwill and is included in the carrying amount
of the associate. Any impairment losses are deducted from the carrying amount of the investment in associate.
Distributions received from the associate reduce the carrying amount of the investment in associate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of associates to bring the accounting policies used
into line with those used by the Group.

Profits and losses resulting from transactions with associates are recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’
interests in the associate.

1.2.3 Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for mineral resources, the determination of technical feasibility
and the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. Exploration and evaluation activity includes:
– acquisition of rights to explore;
– researching and analysing historical exploration data;
– gathering exploration data through topographical, geochemical and geophysical studies;
– exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling;
– determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource;
– surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements; and
– conducting market and finance studies.

Administration costs that are not directly attributable to a specific exploration area are charged to the income statement.
Licence costs paid in connection with a right to explore in an existing exploration area are capitalised and amortised
over the term of the permit.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised as incurred. Capitalised exploration expenditure is recorded as a
component of property, plant and equipment at cost less accumulated impairment charges. As the asset is not available
for use, it is not depreciated.

All capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is monitored for indications of impairment. Where a potential
impairment is indicated, assessments are performed for each area of interest in conjunction with the group of operating
assets (representing a cash generating unit (‘CGU’)) to which the exploration is attributed. To the extent that exploration
expenditure is not expected to be recovered, it is charged to the income statement. Exploration areas where reserves have
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been discovered, but require major capital expenditure before production can begin, are continually evaluated to ensure
that commercial quantities of reserves exist or to ensure that additional exploration work is underway as planned.

1.2.4 Development expenditure

When proved reserves are determined and development is sanctioned, capitalised exploration and evaluation
expenditure is reclassified within property, plant and equipment to development expenditure. As the asset is not
available for use, during the development phase, it is not depreciated. On completion of the development, any
capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure already capitalised to development expenditure, together with the
subsequent development expenditure, is reclassified within property, plant and equipment to mining assets and
depreciated on the basis as laid out in Note 1.2.5, Property, plant and equipment. All development expenditure is
monitored for indicators of impairment annually.

1.2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition and construction of the items, amongst
others, professional fees, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy.

Subsequent costs to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for separately,
is capitalised with the carrying amount of the component being written off, and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation commences when an asset is available for use. Depreciation is charged so as to write off the depreciable
amount of the asset to its residual value over its estimated useful live, using a method that reflects the pattern in which
the asset’s future economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Group.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet
date. The following methods and useful lives were applied during the period:

Item Method Useful life

Mining assets Straight line Lesser of life of mine and period of lease
Decommissioning assets Straight line Lesser of life of mine and period of lease
Leasehold improvements Straight line Lesser of 3 years and period of lease
Plant and equipment Straight line 3 – 10 years
Finance lease assets Straight line 2 – 6 years
Other assets Straight line 2 – 5 years

Pre-production mine stripping costs are capitalised to development costs.

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase to remove additional overburden or waste ore are deferred when
they give access to future economic benefits and charged to operating costs using the expected average stripping ratio
over the average life of the area being mined. The average stripping ratio is calculated as the number of tonnes of
waste material expected to be removed during the life of area, per tonne of ore mined. 

The average life of area cost per tonne is calculated as the total expected costs to be incurred to mine the orebody
divided by the number of tonnes expected to be mined. The average life of area stripping ratio and the average life of
area cost per tonne is recalculated annually in light of additional knowledge and changes in estimates. Changes in the
stripping ratio are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. These are
included in the income statement.

1.2.6 Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share in the net identifiable assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included
in intangible assets.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed
annually for impairment. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
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date of acquisition, allocated to the cash-generating unit expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Concessions and licences
Concessions and licences are shown at cost. Concessions and licences have a definite useful life and are carried at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the cost of concessions and licences over the shorter of the life of mine or term of the licence
once production commences.

1.2.7 Impairments

Non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that were
previously impaired are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such a reversal is
recognised in the income statement. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate
the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets are impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (ie the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of
the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed, to
the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. Any subsequent
reversal of an impairment loss is recognise in profit or loss.

In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as the
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Group will not be able to collect all
of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through
use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectable.

Available-for-sale financial investments
If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is
transferred from equity to profit or loss. Reversals in respect or equity instrument classified as available-for-sale are not
recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through profit or loss, if
the increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised in profit or loss.

1.2.8 Other financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
– loans and receivables;
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– held-to-maturity investments; and
– available-for-sale financial assets.

Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at
every reporting date.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair
value through profit or loss directly attributable costs.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held-for-trading, and those designated at fair value through profit
or loss. Upon initial recognition, a financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term or if so designated by management. Derivatives are also categorised as held-for-trading unless
they are designated as hedges. Gains and losses on investments held-for-trading are recognised in profit or loss. Assets
in this category are classified as current assets if they are either held-for-trading or are expected to be realised within
12 months of the balance sheet date.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance
sheet date. These are classified as non-current assets. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any allowance for impairment, if the time value of money is significant. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the time value of
money is significant, held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through
the amortisation process.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any
of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the
investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date. After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are
measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment
is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously reported in equity is included in profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges
For cash flow hedges, the effective portions of fair value gains or losses are recognised in equity until the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting. Then, any cumulative
gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity until the forecast transaction is eventually recognised in
the income statement or included in the initial measurement of covered assets and liabilities. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately
transferred to the income statement and then the gains or losses are recognised in earnings or included in the initial
measurement of covered assets or liabilities. The ineffective portion of fair value gains and losses is reported in earnings
in the period to which they relate.

Hedge accounting is applied provided certain criteria are met. At the inception of a hedging relationship, the
relationship between the hedging instruments and the hedged items, its risk management objective and its strategy
for undertaking the hedge is documented. A documented assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing
basis, of whether or not the hedging instruments, that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
the changes attributable to the hedged risks in the cash flows of the hedged items, is also prepared.

Fair value
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments where there is no active
market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market
transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same; discounted
cash flow analysis or other valuation models.
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Amortised cost
Held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost. This is computed using the
effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes into account any premium discount
on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

1.2.9 Inventories
Inventories, which include rough diamonds, ore stock piles and consumables, are measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses are recognised
in the period the write-down or loss occurs. Cost is determined as the average cost of production, using the ‘first-in-
first-out method’. Cost includes directly attributable mining overheads, but excludes borrowing costs.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

1.2.10 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to
the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at an appropriate interest rate. The amount of the
provision is recognised in the income statement.

1.2.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at amortised cost. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, other short term, highly liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less.

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

1.2.12 Issued share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, from
the proceeds.

1.2.13 Foreign currency translation reserve
Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in US dollars.

The results and financial position of the Group’s subsidiaries which have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

– monetary items are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;
– income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is

not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions);

– all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity; and
– non-monetary items that are measured in terms of cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange

rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Details of the rates applied at the respective balance sheet dates and for the income statement transactions are
detailed in Note 20, Issued share capital and reserves.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at the period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

1.2.14 Share-based payments
Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (’equity settled transactions’).
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In situations where some or all of the goods or services received by the entity as consideration for equity instruments
cannot be specifically identified, they are measured as the difference between the fair value of the share-based
payment and the fair value of any identifiable goods or services received at the grant date. For cash-settled
transactions, the liability is remeasured at each reporting date until settlement, with the changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the
relevant employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is determined using an appropriate pricing model.
In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to
the price of the shares of the Company (market conditions).

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon
a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market
conditions and of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an instrument subject
to a market condition, be treated as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since the
previous balance sheet date is recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified or a new award is designated as replacing a cancelled or
settled award, the cost based on the original award terms continues to be recognised over the original vesting period.
In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new vesting period for the incremental fair value of
any modification, based on the difference between the fair value of the original award and the fair value of the
modified award, both as measured on the date of the modification. No reduction is recognised if this difference 
is negative.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any cost
not yet recognised in the income statement for the award is expensed immediately. 

1.2.15 Financial liabilities

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated
at amortised cost; any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised
in the income statement, unless capitalised in accordance with Note 1.2.22, Finance costs, over the period of the
borrowings, using the effective interest method.

Bank overdrafts are recognised at amortised cost.

1.2.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:

– the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event;
– it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation;

and
– a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation,
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance costs.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

1.2.17 Restoration and rehabilitation

The mining, extraction and processing activities of the Group normally give rise to obligations for site restoration and
rehabilitation. Rehabilitation works can include facility decommissioning and dismantling; removal and treatment of
waste materials; land rehabilitation; and site restoration. The extent of the work required and the estimated cost of
final rehabilitation, comprising liabilities for decommissioning and restoration, are based on current legal requirements,
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existing technology and the Group’s environmental policies and is reassessed annually. Cost estimates are not reduced
by the potential proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment.

Provisions for the cost of each restoration and rehabilitation programme are recognised at the time the environmental
disturbance occurs. When the extent of the disturbance increases over the life of the operation, the provision is
increased accordingly. Costs included in the provision encompass all restoration and rehabilitation activity expected
to occur. The restoration and rehabilitation provisions are measured at the expected value of future cash flows,
discounted to their present value. Discount rates used are specific to the country in which the operation is located.
The value of the provision is progressively increased over time as the effect of the discounting unwinds, which is
recognised in finance charges. Restoration and rehabilitation provisions are also adjusted for changes in estimates.

When provisions for restoration and rehabilitation are initially recognised, the corresponding cost is capitalised where
it gives rise to a future benefit, and depreciated over future production from the operations to which it relates.

1.2.18 Taxation

Income tax for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement
except to the extent that it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case it is recognised in
equity. Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realised.

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities, deferred tax is provided except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

1.2.19 Employee benefits

Provision is made in the financial statements for all short-term employee benefits. Liabilities for wages and salaries,
including non-monetary benefits, benefits required by legislation, annual leave, retirement benefits and accumulating
sick leave obliged to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date, are recognised in trade and other payables
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Benefits falling due more than
12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to present value.

Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses. The Group recognises a liability where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. These liabilities are recognised in
trade and other payables and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

1.2.20 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement
at inception date of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets
or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one
of the following applies:

a) There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
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b) A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension was initially
included in the lease term;

c) There is a change in the determination of whether fulfilment is dependent on a specific asset; or

d) There is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in
circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios a), c) or d) and at the date of renewal or extension period
for scenario b).

Group as a lessee
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding
lease obligations, net of finance charges, are included in financial liabilities.

The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each year. The property, plant and
equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When the Group is a party to a lease where there is a
contingent rental element associated within the agreement, a cost is recognised as and when the contingency materialises.

1.2.21 Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and comprises the fair value for the
sale of goods, net of value-added tax, rebates and discounts and after eliminated sales within the Group. Revenue is
recognised as follows:

Sale of goods
Sales of diamonds and other products are recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the customer, can be measured reliably and receipts of future economic benefits are probable.

Rendering of services
Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, and it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, by reference to completion of the specific
transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest rate method.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised when the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably and the Group’s right to receive
payment is established.

1.2.22 Finance costs

Finance costs are generally expensed as incurred, except where they relate to the financing of construction or
development of qualifying assets requiring a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended future use.
Finance costs are capitalised up to the date when the asset is ready for its intended use.

1.2.23 Dividend distribution

Dividend distributions to the Group’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved by the Group’s shareholders.

1.2.24 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgements
and form assumptions that affect the reported amounts of the assets and liabilities, the reported revenue and costs
during the periods presented therein, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements.
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future and the resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the financial results or the financial position reported in future periods are discussed below.

Life of mine
There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating ore reserves and the associated life of mine. Therefore the
Group must make a number of assumptions in making those estimations, including assumptions as to the prices of
commodities, exchange rates, production costs and recovery rates. Assumptions that are valid at the time of
estimation may change significantly when new information becomes available. Changes in the forecast prices of
commodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may change the economic status of ore reserves and
may, ultimately, result in the ore reserves being restated.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
This policy requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future events and circumstances,
in particular whether economically viable extraction operations are viable where reserves have been discovered and
whether indications of impairment exist. Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information
becomes available.

Development expenditure
Judgement is applied by management in determining when a project has reached a stage at which economically
recoverable reserves exist and that development may be sanctioned. Management is required to make certain
estimates and assumptions similar to those described above for capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure.

Property, plant and equipment – recoverable amount
The calculation of the recoverable amount of an asset requires significant judgements, estimates and assumptions,
including future demand, technological changes, exchange rates, interest rates and others.

Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines if goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in
use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and a market-related pre-tax rate
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Provision for restoration and rehabilitation
Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the amount of the restoration and rehabilitation
provisions. These deal with uncertainties such as changes to the legal and regulatory framework, magnitude of
possible contamination, and the timing, extent and costs of required restoration and rehabilitation activity.

Taxation
The determination of the Group’s obligations and expense for taxes requires an interpretation of tax law and therefore
certain assumptions and estimates are made.

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
As noted in Note 1.2.5, Property, plant and equipment, the Group now accounts for stripping costs as follows:

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase to remove additional overburden or waste ore are deferred
when they give access to future economic benefits and charged to operating costs using the expected average
stripping ratio over the average life of the area being mined. The average stripping ratio is calculated as the number
of tonnes of waste material expected to be removed during the life of area, per tonne of ore mined. 

The average life of area cost per tonne is calculated as the total expected costs to be incurred to mine the orebody
divided by the number of tonnes expected to be mined. The average life of area stripping ratio and the average life
of area cost per tonne is recalculated annually in light of additional knowledge and changes in estimates. Changes
in the stripping ratio are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. 

The Group previously accounted for stripping costs as follows:

Post production mine stripping costs are expensed to profit or loss as incurred.

The impact of this change in accounting policy is immaterial in 2006 and therefore comparative figures have not
been restated.
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12 months ended 6 months ended
31 December 31 December

(US$’000) 2007 2006

3. REVENUE
Sale of goods 152 231 50 330
Rendering of services 475 111

152 706 50 441

Finance revenue is reflected in Note 6, Net finance income/(costs).

4. COST OF SALES
Change in inventory 564 (878)
Cost of production 64 195 21 651

– Mining expenses 37 712 15 725
– Site services 14 375 1 256
– Treatment and recovery 12 108 4 670

64 759 20 773

Included in change in inventory is a write down of US$4.4 million to net
realisable value.

5. OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit includes, amongst others, the following:

Non-current assets
Loss on disposal of invesments (24) –
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (25) –

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (23 920) (6 769)
Less: Depreciation capitalised to exploration assets 1 198 182
Less: Depreciation and amortisation capitalised to inventory 2 153 1 326

(20 569) (5 261)

Amortisation of intangible assets (16) –
Less: Amortisation capitalised to exploration assets 5 –

(11) –
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

12 months ended 6 months ended
31 December 31 December

(US$’000) 2007 2006

5. OPERATING PROFIT continued

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 14 654 (9 284)

Lease expenses as a lessee
Lease payments recognised in the Income statement
– Mine site property (92) (38)
– Equipment and service leases (1 144) (344)
– Contingent rental – alluvial deposits ( 7 168) (3 179)
– Vehicles – (14)
– Leased premises (641) (206)

(9 045) (3 781)

Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fee (803) (64)
Tax services (1 615) –

(2 418) (64)

US$7.2 million was paid to the auditors and was either capitalised to
share premium (as part of Listing costs) or to the costs of investments (as
part of professional services rendered for acquisitions).

Staff costs
Salaries and wages (36 416) (6 103)

Directors’ remuneration
Refer to the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 54 for full details
of transactions with Directors.

6. NET FINANCE INCOME/COSTS
Finance income – Bank deposits 23 363 3 354

Finance costs
Bank overdraft (855) (2 258)
Convertible bonds (1 661) (1 251)
Finance costs on unwinding of rehabilitation provision (762) (80)

(3 278) (3 589)

20 085 (235)
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12 months ended 6 months ended
31 December 31 December

(US$’000) 2007 2006

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Income statement
Current (15 802) (6 492)

– UK (3 891) –
– Overseas (11 911) (6 492)

Withholding tax (1 312) (612)

Deferred (10 827) (439)

– Overseas (10 827) (439)

(27 941) (7 543)

Reconciliation of tax rate:
Profit before taxation 68 441 7 882

% %
Expected income tax rate 30 30
Permanent differences 4 41
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 7 8
Effect of overseas tax at different rates (4) (8)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets – 10
Effect of deferred tax on unremitted earnings 2 8
Withholding tax 2 8
Adjustment in respect of prior years 4 –
Other (4) (1)

Effective tax rate 41 96
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

12 months ended 6 months ended
31 December 31 December

(US$’000) 2007 2006

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and
diluted earnings per share computations:

Profit for the period 40 500 339
Less: Minority interests (17 273) (5 460)

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 23 227 (5 121)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the period (‘000) 57 399 21 011

Profit/(loss) per share (cents) 40 (24)

Diluted profit/(loss) per share (cents) 40 (24)

Profit/(loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit/(loss) for
the period attributable to ordinary equity holders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted profit/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net profit
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period 
after taking into account future potential conversion and issue rights
associated with ordinary shares.

The potential dilution of future potential conversion and issue rights has
no earnings saving impact on the basic earnings attributable to the
equity holders of the parent.

Number Number of
of shares shares

(’000) (’000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period 57 399 21 011

Effect of dilution:

– Future share awards to non-Executive Directors contracted for 419 –

– Future share awards under the Employee Share Option Programme 229 –

– Future share awards to Executive Directors and senior executives  
under the Executive Share Growth Plan 174 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period
adjusted for the effect of dilution 58 221 21 011

The convertible bonds have an anti-dilutive effect on the earnings
of the Group and as such are not included in the dilutive earnings
per share calculation.

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or
potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of
completion of these financial statements, other than those discussed
in Note 27, Post balance sheet events.

Annual Report 2007

98



9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

As at 31 December 2006 Decom- Lease- Plant
Explo- mission- hold and Finance

Mining ration ing improve- equip- lease Other
(US$’000) assets costs assets ments ment assets assets Total

Cost
Balance at 1 July 2006 – 2 545 – 49 1 111 – 668 4 373 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 161 624 – 1 421 3 177 15 353 1 276 1 535 184 386 
Additions – 684 – 803 5 701 – 906 8 094 
Foreign exchange

translation adjustment 1 857 107 14 57 365 15 55 2 470 

Balance at 31 December 2006 163 481 3 336 1 435 4 086 22 530 1 291 3 164 199 323 

Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation

Balance at 1 July 2006 – – – 20 – – 31 51 
Depreciation and amortisation

for the year 4 403 – 33 705 1 112 175 341 6 769 
Foreign exchange

translation adjustment 112 – 1 18 28 4 8 171 

Balance at 31 December 2006 4 515 – 34 743 1 140 179 380 6 991 

Net book value at
31 December 2006 158 966 3 336 1 401 3 343 21 390 1 112 2 784 192 332 

As at 31 December 2007 Decom- Lease- Plant
Explo- mission- hold and Finance

Mining ration ing improve- equip- lease Other
(US$’000) assets costs assets ments ment assets assets Total

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2007 163 481 3 336 1 435 4 086 22 530 1 291 3 164 199 323 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 324 107 52 615 5 061 62 170 992 1 845 7 388 562 070 
Additions 15 450 15 664 6 703 508 62 274 1 203 12 066 113 868
Disposals (12 996) – – (58) (1 227) (1 111) (290) (15 682)
Foreign exchange

translation adjustment 14 969 2 882 667 140 15 399 77 671 34 805 

Balance at 31 December 2007 505 011 74 497 13 866 4 738 269 968 3 305 22 999 894 384 

Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation

Balance at 1 January 2007 4 515 – 34 743 1 140 179 380 6 991 
Depreciation and amortisation

for the year 15 150 47 513 336 5 568 856 1 450 23 920 
Disposals – – (65) (58) (78) (358) (265) (824)
Foreign exchange

translation adjustment 479 – 11 30 167 19 62 768 

Balance at 31 December 2007 20 144 47 493 1 051 6 797 696 1 627 30 855 

Net book value at
31 December 2007 484 867 74 450 13 373 3 687 263 171 2 609 21 372 863 529 

The finance lease assets are used as security for the financial liabilities disclosed in Note 21, Other financial liabilities.

Other assets comprise motor vehicles, computer equipment, furniture and fittings and office equipment.

Finance lease assets comprise motor vehicles and plant and equipment.

Included in plant and equipment is capital work in progress of US$60.4 million (31 December 2006: US$4.0 million).

Included in mining assets is deferred stripping of US$38.7 million (31 December 2006: US$– million) capitalised.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As at 31 December 2006 Other intangibles Goodwill Total 
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Cost and net book value
Balance at 1 July 2006 409 – 409 
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 26 771 26 771 
Additions 439 – 439 
Foreign exchange translation adjustment 32 307 339 

Balance at 31 December 2006 880 27 078 27 958 

As at 31 December 2007 Other intangibles Goodwill Total 
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2007 880 27 078 27 958
Acquisition of subsidiary 42 42 132 42 174 
Additions 707 – 707 
Disposals (7) – (7)
Foreign exchange translation adjustment 13 857 870 

Balance at 31 December 2007 1 635 70 067 71 702 

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2007 – – – 
Amortisation for the year 16 – 16
Foreign exchange translation adjustment 1 – 1 

Balance at 31 December 2007 17 – 17

Net book value at 31 December 2007 1 618 70 067 71 685

Impairment of goodwill within the Group was tested
in accordance with the Group’s policy. Refer to 
Note 11, Impairment of goodwill for further details.

Other intangibles comprise of costs associated with
acquiring and renewing licences and concessions.
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31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

11. IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL
Goodwill acquired through business combinations and acquisitions 
has been allocated to the individual cash-generating units, as follows:

– Gem Longatshimo 445 –
– Letšeng Diamonds 27 935 27 078 
– BDI Mining 16 083 – 
– KDC 25 604 – 

Balance at end of the year 70 067 27 078 

Impairment testing is undertaken annually, or whenever there are
indications of impairment. The most recent test was undertaken at 
31 December 2007. In assessing whether goodwill has been impaired,
the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit or reportable segment
is compared with its recoverable amount.

For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, recoverable amounts
have been determined based on value in use calculations. Value in use
is based on cash flow projections from financial budgets covering the
life of the mine. The life of each mine depends on a number of variables,
such as recoverable reserves and resources and expected throughput
and utilisation of plant facilities.

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations for goodwill
assets are:

– expected carats recoverable
– expected grades achievable
– expected plant throughput and costs of extracting and processing
– expected US$/carat prices
– appropriate discount rates

Economically recoverable reserves and resources are based on man age -
ment’s current expectation, supported by the evaluation work under -
taken by appropriately qualified persons.

Long term US$/carat prices are based on external market consensus
forecasts. Plant throughput is based on current plant facilities and
processing capacities. Costs are determined on management’s experience
and the use of contractors over a period of time which costs are fairly
reasonably determinable.

Discount rates are outlined below, and represent the real pre-tax rates.
These rates are based on the weighted average cost of capital of the Group
and adjusted accordingly at a risk premium per cash-generating unit,
taking into account risks associated with different cash-generating units.

101

Annual Report 2007
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

11. IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL continued

Discount rate for each cash-generating unit

– Letšeng Diamonds 10.3% – 
– BDI Mining 11.3% – 

KDC

The balance of 50.01% of KDC was acquired in October 2007 for
US$56.1 million in an arms length transaction. The acquisition was based
on the Competent Persons Report value of US$116.0 million of the
diamond asset which was used to determine the purchase price
allocation. Management is not aware of any significant circumstances
that have transpired after year end indicating impairment.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

Based on an analysis carried out by the Group, BDI mining is the cash
generating group that is most sensitive to a change in the diamond
price, costs or discount rates used.

Should any of the assumptions used change adversely and the impact
not be mitigated by a change in other factors, this could result in a
potential impairment of the above assets.

It is impracticable to disclose the extent of the possible effects of
changes in the assumptions because the assumptions used in the
impairment testing are inextricably linked.

12. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
At year end the Group had interests in the following:

Company
KDC

Financial information of investment in associate
as reflected in the balance sheet
Investment in associate – at cost – 20 750 
Share of loss in associate – (706)

– 20 044 

The following is a summarised version of the financial information of the
Group’s investment in the associate:

Share of the associate balance sheet
– Assets – 30 740 
– Liabilities – (10 696)

Net assets – 20 044 

Share of the associate’s sales and losses
as recognised in the income statement
– Net loss (1 030) (525)
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31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

12. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE continued

Percentage holding reconciliation
– Balance at beginning of year/period 49.99% 49.99%
– Acquisition of shareholding 50.01% 0.00%

– Balance at end of year/period 100.00% 49.99%

The share of the loss in associate is net of any taxation.

The Group acquired a 49.99% investment in KDC with effect from
1 April 2006, a private company involved in alluvial mining in the
DRC and holder of mining licences and concessions. KDC’s financial year
end is December. The losses recognised above are to the Group’s
reporting periods.

On 31 October 2007, the Group acquired the remaining 50.01% of 
KDC. Refer to Note 1.1.4, Acquisitions, for further information regarding 
the acquisition.

13. LOANS OWING BY ASSOCIATE
Non-current portion
KDC1 – 14 783 

1. The loan was unsecured, bore interest at Libor plus 1% and was repayable on demand.

As disclosed in Note 12, Investment in associate, the balance of the
associate’s shares was acquired during the course of the year.

14. OTHER ASSETS
Environmental Bonds1 2 112 – 
Other assets 254 – 

2 366 – 

1. Environmental bonds may only be accessed when all relevant rehabilitation work is

completed at the end of the project and represents restricted funds to the Group.

15. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax assets
Property, plant and equipment – 1 
Accrued leave – 34 
Operating lease liability 7 1 
Provisions 955 364 
Tax loss not utilised in the period – 81 

962 481 

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment (108 587) (45 796)
Prepayments (13) (8)
Provisions (99) – 
Unremitted earnings (1 985) (955)

(110 684) (46 759)

Net deferred tax liability (109 722) (46 278)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

15. DEFERRED TAXATION continued

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset/(liability)
Balance at beginning of year (46 278) 12 
Movement in current period:
– Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes (10 304) 460 
– Accrued leave – 22 
– Operating lease liability 6 – 
– Unremitted earnings (1 029) (955)
– Prepayments (9) (8)
– Provisions 430 (37)
– Tax losses utilised in the period 63 79 
– Acquisition of subsidiaries (50 825) (45 343)
– Foreign currency translation adjustment (1 776) (508)

Balance at end of year (109 722) (46 278)

Where deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities arise in the same tax
jurisdiction and legal entity, they have been set off.

The Group has not recognised a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
because it is able to control the timing of dividends and only part of the
temporary differences is expected to reverse in the foreseable future.
The gross temporary difference in respect of the undistributed reserves
of the Group’s subsidiaries for which a deferred tax liability has not been
recognised is US$23.2 million (31 December 2006: US$0.8 million).

The Group has estimated tax losses of US$158.0 million (31 December
2006: US$1.0 million) and unutilised foreign tax credits of approximately
US$0.4 million (31 December 2006: US$1.9 million). No deferred tax assets
have been recognised in respect of such losses at 31 December 2007 as
management considers that it is not probable that the losses in those
entitities will be utilised against taxable profits in those entities in the
foreseeable future.

Of the US$158.0 million estimated tax losses, US$25.1 million losses in
various jurisdictions expire as follows:

31 December
Year (US$’000) 2007

2009 1 515
2010 2 035
2011 2 219
2012 8 621
2013 1 550
2014 4 004
2015 5 111

25 055
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31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

16. INVENTORIES
Diamonds on hand 24 875 4 984 
Ore stockpiles 6 084 –
Consumable stores 10 186 2 331 

41 145 7 315 

17. RECEIVABLES
Prepayments 565 8 930 
Deposits 3 912 3 872 
Other receivables 3 092 215 
Vat receivable 4 936 –

12 505 13 017 

The carrying amounts above approximate the fair value.

Provision for impairment of receivables
Receivables (at nominal value) impaired and fully provided for 239 894 

Analysis of receivables
Neither past due nor impaired 11 750 13 017 
Past due but not impaired:
< 30 days 755 – 

Total receivables 12 505 13 017 

Movements in the provision against receivables were as follows:

Individually
impaired 

Balance at 1 July 2006 –
Charge for the year 872
Foreign currency translation reserve 22

Balance at 31 December 2006 894

Charge for the year –
Utilised during the year (662)
Foreign currency translation reserve 7

Balance at 31 December 2007 239 
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31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

18. LOANS RECEIVABLE
Government of Lesotho1 1 413 5 319 
Chiri project loan2 250 –
Namakwa Diamond West Africa Mining3 – 3 400 

1 663 8 719 

1. The amount outstanding is unsecured and interest free. The amount is repayable via
the proceeds of any future dividends payable from Letšeng Diamonds. No dividend
has been declared by Letšeng Diamonds post year end and as such no further
payment for this loan has been received.

2. The loan represents amounts advanced to the project in terms of the Cooperation
Agreement concluded in relation to the Chiri Concession in Angola. The loan is
interest free and has no fixed term of repayment.

3. The loan was repaid during the course of the year.

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand 176 58 
Bank balances 99 433 33 655 
Short term bank deposits 83 927 18 194 

183 536 51 907 
Bank overdraft (1 702) – 

181 834 51 907 

The amounts reflected in the financial statements approximate fair value.

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term deposits are generally call deposit accounts and 
earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates. As at year end
date, the Group has US$2.0 million (31 December 2006: US$2.5 million)
overdraft facilities in place.
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31 December 2007 31 December 2006

Number Number
of shares of shares

’000 US$’000 ’000 US$’000

20. ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL
AND RESERVES

Authorised – ordinary shares of US$0.01 each 125 000 1 250 100 000 1 000

On 1 February 2007, the Company increased
its share capital to 125 000 000 of US$0.01 each. 

Issued and fully paid
Balance at beginning of year 25 343 253 – – 
Allotments during the year 37 056 371 25 343 253 

Balance at end of year 62 399 624 25 343 253 

During the year, the following share transactions
took place:

On 14 February 2007, the Company completed  its
IPO and listed on the LSE. The Company received
US$636.2 million (£324.0 million) and issued 34.1 million
ordinary shares. The Company listed at US$18.46
(£9.50). As referred to in Note 21, Other financial
liabilities, 2.1 million shares were issued on conversion
of the convertible bonds. Share issue costs amounting
to US$40.9 million were incurred of which US$11.6
million was prepaid in the prior year.

Following the IPO, the Company’s share capital
amounted to US$0.6 million comprising 62 399 199
ordinary shares of US$0.01 each and share premium
amounting to US$787.5 million.

Share premium
Share premium comprises the excess value recognised
from the issue of ordinary shares at par value.

Treasury shares
The Company established  an ESOP on 5 February 2007.
Under the terms of the ESOP, the Company granted
options to employees over 376 500 ordinary shares
with a nil exercise price upon listing.

At Listing, the Gem Diamonds Limited Employee Share
Trust acquired 376 500 ordinary shares by subscription
from the Company as part of the Initial Awards under
the ESOP arrangement at the nominal value of US$0.01.

Movement in reserves
Full details of all movements in reserves are disclosed in
the statement of changes in equity.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

20. ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES continued

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of foreign entities. During the
period, the South African, Lesotho, Botswana, Central African Republic and
Australian subsidiaries’ functional currencies were different to the Group.
The rates used to convert the South African Rand (‘ZAR’), Lesotho Loti
(‘Maloti’), Botswana Pula (‘Pula’), the Central African Franc (‘CFA’) and the
Australian Dollar (‘AUD’) into US dollars are as follows:

Currency 2007 2006

Average rate Maloti to 1 US$ 7.05 7.23 
Period end Maloti to 1 US$ 6.83 7.05 

Average rate ZAR to 1 US$ 7.05 7.23 
Period end ZAR to 1 US$ 6.83 7.05 

Average rate CFA to 1 US$ 479.43 510.74 
Period end CFA to 1 US$ 445.59 497.45 

Average rate AUD to 1 US$ 1.20 – 
Period end AUD to 1 US$ 1.14 – 

Average rate Pula to 1 US$ 6.15 – 
Period end Pula to 1 US$ 6.04 – 

Share-based equity reserves
For details on the share based payment reserve, refer to Note 30, Share-
based payments.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve arises on the acquisition of KDC and represents the
Group’s share of the increase in the net fair value of the assets and liabilities,
post the initial acquisition as detailed in Note 1.1.4, Acquisitions.

Capital management
For details on capital management, refer to Note 29, Financial risk
management.

31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

21. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Non-current
Convertible bonds1 15 834 49 976 
Finance lease obligations2 854 1 038 

16 688 51 014 

Current
Convertible bonds1 961 1 036 
Finance lease obligations2 1 133 484 
Derivative financial instrument3 – 2 750 
Liability for dividend – 3 519 
Secured loans4 11 673 – 
Investec Bank Limited5 1 563 1 515 

15 330 9 304 

Total other financial liabilities 32 018 60 318 
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Effective Maturity
interest rate date

%

21. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES continued

Non-current
Convertible bonds 6 October 2009
Finance lease obligations 6 – 13 60 – 84 months

Current
Finance lease obligations 6 – 13 60 – 84 months
Secured loans 10 April 2008
Investec Bank Limited – –

The carrying values of the liabilities approximate their fair values.

1. To finance the acquisition of Letšeng Diamonds, 525 convertible bonds of 
US$100 000 each were issued on 3 October 2006. The bonds are convertible at the
option of the holder at any time up to the repayment date of 2 October 2009. 
The interest rate on the bond was 8% until the date of IPO (14 February 2007). The
interest rate is 6% subsequent to IPO until the date of maturity or conversion. The
bonds have been issued net of bond issue costs amounting to US$2.7 million.
Interest is payable six monthly from date of issue. The above liability includes interest
accrued. On 14 February 2007, 365 convertible bonds of US$100 000 each, totalling
US$36.5 million were converted. In terms of the conversion calculation, the total
number of shares issued amounted to 2.1 million based on a conversion price 
of US$17.01.

The number of shares issuable on conversion is calculated by dividing the principal
amount of the bond by the conversion price at the conversion date.

2. The finance leases are payable in monthly instalments over a period of 23 to 
68 months. The finance leases have an average implicit interest rate between 6 to
13%. The finance leases are secured by plant and equipment with a carrying amount
of US$2.6 million (31 December 2006: US$1.1 million). Refer to Note 9, Property, plant
and equipment.

3. The derivative option expired during the year and was not exercised.

4. The secured loans relate to working capital facilities which are reviewed periodically and
rolled every month. The facilities are repayable on demand. Interest on the facilities is
based on normal market rates prevailing for these type of facilities (floating interest).

5. Investec Bank Limited is an outstanding amount in respect of the acquisition of
Letšeng Diamonds and is estimated based on information available as at the balance
sheet date. The amount due is interest free.

31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

Finance lease disclosure

Minimum lease payments due
– Within one year 1 281 641 
– Between one to five years 854 1 033
– More than five years 80 140 

2 215 1 814 
– Amounts representing finance charges (228) (292)

Present value of minimum lease payments 1 987 1 522 

Analysis of present value of minimum lease payments:
– Within one year 1 133 484 
– Between one to five years 778 910 
– More than five years 76 128 

1 987 1 522
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

22. PROVISIONS
Rehabilitation provisions 22 529 2 584 

Reconciliation of movement in provisions
Balance at beginning of year 2 584 –
Acquisition of subsidiaries 8 539 2 409
Arising during the year 9 692 63
Utilised during the year (93) –
Unwinding of discount rate 762 81
Foreign currency translation 1 045 31

Balance at end of year 22 529 2 584

The provisions have been recognised as the Group has an obligation for
rehabilitation of the mining areas. The provisions have been calculated
based on total estimated rehabilitation costs and discounted back 
to their present values. The pre-tax discount rates are adjusted for
annually and reflect current market assessments.

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Non-current
Severance pay benefits 421 317 

421 317 

Current
Trade payables 50 467 17 312 
Accrued expenses 11 640 3 903 
Leave benefits 2 214 519 
Royalties 650 –
Operating lease 24 2 

64 995 21 736 

Total trade and other payables 65 416 22 053 

The carrying amounts above approximate fair value.

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:

– Trade payables and accrued expenses are non-interest bearing and
are settled in accordance with terms agreed between the parties.
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31 December 31 December
(US$’000) Note 2007 2006

24. CASH FLOW NOTES

24.1 Cash generated by operations

Profit before taxation 68 441 7 882 
Adjustments for:
– Depreciation and amortisation

on property, plant and equipment 5 20 569 5 261 
– Finance income 6 (23 363) (3 354)
– Finance costs 6 3 278 3 589 
– Movement in provisions 10 645 63 
– Share of loss in associate 1 030 525 

Non-cash items
– Foreign currency translation adjustments (23 649) (4)
– Loss on disposal 24 – 
– Share-based equity transactions 19 531 – 

76 506 13 962 

24.2. Working capital adjustments

Increase in inventories (15 166) (1 126)
Increase in trade and other receivables (7 930) (10 165)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (4 102) 11 538 
Foreign exchange revaluation of working capital (1 992) (3)

(29 190) 244 

24.3 Acquisitions

Net assets and liabilities acquired1 (467 856) (168 527)
Less:
– Minorities’ interest 22 069 42 527 
– Capitalised costs in respect of the purchase – 188 
– Revalutaion surplus 19 783 – 
– Carrying value of associate at acquisition 16 264 – 

(409 740) (125 812)
Sale of 3% to the Government of Lesotho – (5 284)
Outstanding finance on sale 14 487 4 498 
Loans acquired – – 

Cash paid (395 253) (126 598)
Cash received 4 629 8 074 

Net cash paid (390 624) (118 524)

1. This relates to the acquisitions of BDI Mining, KDC, Kimberley Diamonds, and Gope
Exploration in the current year and Letšeng Diamonds during the prior year.

Net cash paid is reconciled as follows:
Acquisition of BDI Mining 78 222 –
Acquisition of KDC 50 166 –
Acquisition of Kimberley Diamonds 234 724 –
Acquisition of net assets and liabilities of Gope Exploration 27 512 –
Acquisition of Letšeng Diamonds – 118 524 

390 624 118 524 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 continued

31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

24. CASH FLOW NOTES continued

24.4 Proceeds from disposal group held for sale

Net assets and liabilities disposed1 25 283 – 
Loan repaid 1 775 – 

27 058 – 
Loss on disposal of shares (24) – 
Cash equivalents sold (17) – 

Net cash received 27 017 – 

1. This relates to the disposal of Woodlark Mining Limited during the course of the year.
Woodlark was acquired as part of the BDI Mining acquisition and was classified as
a disposal group held for sale from acquisition date.

25. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee
The Group has entered into commercial lease arrangements for rental
of office premises. These leases have an average period of two years with
an option of renewal at the end of the period. There are no restrictions
placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable
operating leases:

– Within one year 637 310 
– After one year but not more than five years 1 705 407 
– More than five years – 37 

2 342 754 

Mining leases
Mining lease commitments represent the Group’s future obligation
arising from agreements entered into with local authorities in the mining
areas that the Group operates.

The period of these commitments is determined as the lesser of the
term of the agreement, including renewable periods or the life of the
mine. The estimated lease obligation regarding the future lease period,
accepting stable inflation and exchange rates, is as follows:

– Within one year 301 81 
– After one year but not more than five years 1 269 458 
– More than five years 4 393 1 439 

5 963 1 978 
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31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

25. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES continued

Moveable equipment lease
The provision of loading, hauling and other transportation services ran
for five years from May 2004, but was terminated in September 2007,
and replaced with an agreement whereby the Company pays a fixed
rate per ton of ore produced.

– Within one year 7 695 3 448 
– After one year but not more than five years 28 855 4 873 

36 550 8 321 
Finance leases
The Group has entered into finance leases with interest rates from 6%
to 13% and payable within the next 23 to 68 months. The estimated
future lease obligations are as follows:

– Within one year 1 133 484 
– After one year but not more than five years 778 910 
– More than five years 76 128 

1 987 1 522 
Contingent rentals – alluvial deposits
The contingent rentals on alluvial deposits represent the Group’s 
obligation to third parties for alluvial diamonds mined by such third
parties on the Group’s mining property. The rental is determined when
the actual diamonds mined by such third parties are sold. The rental
agreement is based on 40% of the sale of the diamonds recovered
by Alluvial Ventures and will be limited to US$0.7 million per individual
diamond. As at the balance sheet dates, such future sales cannot
be determined.

Letšeng Diamonds Educational Trust
In terms of the mining agreement entered into between the Group and
the Government of Lesotho, the Group has an obligation to provide
funding for education and training scholarships. The quantum of 
such funding is at the discretion of the Letšeng Diamonds Education
Trust Committee.

Chiri Cooperation Agreement and Option Agreement
During the year, the Group entered into a Cooperation Agreement and
Option Agreement in relation to the Chiri Concession in Angola. The
Cooperation Agreement sets out the terms on which the Group will
conduct a feasibility study to assess the commercial viability of the
Chiri Concession, which is believed to be a diamondiferous kimberlite.
The Option Agreement gives the Group an option to acquire an indirect
interest in the Chiri Concession. The commitment is included in the
amounts disclosed as part of capital expenditure below.
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31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

25. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES continued

Capital expenditure
Approved but not contracted for 20 060 – 
Approved and contracted for 23 893 62 459 

The amounts are approved by the Board.

Contingencies
During the year, the Group purchased 50.01% of KDC as detailed in Note
1.1.4, Acquisitions. In terms of this agreement the Group has a commitment
to pay an additional amount if an economically, commercially viable
diamondiferous kimberlite is discovered in any of the existing concessions.
The additional purchase consideration will be 5% of the Group’s
attributable share of the Diamond Asset value of the diamondiferous
kimberlite as determined by an independent competent person’s report.

The Group has conducted its operations in the ordinary course of
business in accordance with its understanding and interpretation, 
and based on advice of professional advisors, of applicable legislation 
in the countries where the Group has operations. In certain specific
transactions however, the relevant authorities could have a different
interpretation of those laws and regulations that could lead to
contingencies or additional liabilities for the Group. Having consulted
professional advisors, the Group has identified possible tax claims within
the various jurisdictions in which the Group operates approximating
US$2.9 million. There remains a risk that additional tax liabilities may
potentially arise. While it is difficult to predict the ultimate outcome in
some cases, the Group does not anticipate that there will be any material
impact on the Group’s results, financial position or liquidity.
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26. RELATED PARTIES

Related party Relationship

Jemax Management (Proprietary) Limited Common director
Jemax Aviation (Proprietary) Limited Common director
Gem Diamond Holdings Limited Common director
Government of Lesotho Minority shareholder
Geneva Management Group (UK) Limited Common director
Almesta Holdings Limited Associate shareholder1

Government of CAR Minority shareholder
Government of Indonesia Minority shareholder
Franck Nyimilongo Pieme Minority shareholder

1. Until date of acquisition of outside shareholder.

Refer to Note 1.1.2, Operational information, for information regarding
shareholding in subsidiaries.

Refer to page 41 for information regarding the Directors.

31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

Compensation to key management personnel (including Directors)
Share-based equity transactions 2 609 – 
Short term employee benefits 6 553 4 241 

9 162 4 241 

Related party transactions

Royalties paid to related parties
Government of Lesotho (12 123) (4 020)

Lease and licence payments to related parties
Government of Lesotho (92) (38)
Government of CAR (36) –

Interest received from related parties
Previous associate 1 678 277 

Management fees received from related parties
Previous associate 244 111 

Sales to/(purchases) from related parties
Jemax Aviation (Proprietary) Limited (336) (254)
Jemax Aviation (Proprietary) Limited 183 –
Geneva Management Group (UK) Limited (864) (169)

Amount included in trade payables owing to related parties
Jemax Aviation (Proprietary) Limited (182) (39)
Jemax Management (Proprietary) Limited (1) (85)
Government of Lesotho (1 385) –

Jemax Management (Proprietary) Limited and Jemax Aviation (Proprietary)
Limited provided administrative and aviation services with regards to the
mining and evaluation activities undertaken by the Group. The above
transactions were made on terms agreed between the parties.

Geneva Management Group (UK) Limited provided administration,
secretarial and accounting services to the Group. The above transactions
were made on terms agreed between the parties.
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27. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
The following have taken place since the balance sheet date:

– On 3 February 2008, the Company appointed two additional non-Executive Directors, Mike Salamon and Richard
Williams MBE MC, to the Board.

– On 19 February 2008, the non-Executive Directors were awarded, as part of their contracts, shares in the Company.
The total number of shares awarded amounted to 506 322.

– On 22 April 2008, Glenn Turner and Alan Ashworth were appointed to the Board and Graham Wheelock retired from
the Board.

Other than the events mentioned above, no other facts or circumstances have taken place during the period covered
by the financial statements and up to the date of this report which in our opinion, are of significance in accessing the
state of the Group’s affairs.

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial instruments,
that are carried in the financial statements:

Financial assets Carrying amount Fair value

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
US$’000 2007 2006 2007 2006

Cash 183 536 51 907 183 536 51 907 
Loans receivable 1 663 8 719 1 663 8 719 
Receivables 12 505 13 017 12 505 13 017 
Environmental bond facilities

and bank guarantees 2 112 – 2 112 –
Other assets 254 – 254 – 

Financial liabilities

Bank overdraft 1 702 – 1 702 – 
Interest-bearing loans

and borrowings: 
– Obligation under 

finance lease 1 987 1 522 1 987 1 522 
– Floating rate borrowings 11 673 – 11 673 – 
– Convertible bonds 16 795 51 012 16 795 51 012 
– Derivative financial

instruments – 2 750 – 2 750 
– Trade and other payables 65 416 22 053 65 416 22 053 
Other financial liabilities 1 563 5 034 1 563 5 034 

The fair value of borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates.
The fair value of loan notes and other financial assets have been calculated using market interest rates where applicable.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

a) Market risk (including commodity price risk and foreign exchange risk);

b) Cash flow interest rate risk;

c) Credit risk; and

d) Liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investing excess liquidity.
There have been no changes in the financial risk management policy since the prior year.

Capital management

The capital of the Company is the total equity on the Group’s balance sheet. The objective of the Company’s capital
management is to grow and manage a diversified portfolio of diamond mining businesses with the aim of delivering
industry superior returns for its shareholders. The management of the Group’s capital is performed by the Board. There
are no externally imposed capital requirements.

a) Market risk

(i) Commodity price risk
The Group is subject to commodity price risk. Diamonds are not a homogenous product and the price of
diamonds is not monitored on a public index system. The fluctuation of prices is related to certain features of
diamonds such as quality and size. Diamond prices are marketed in US$ and long term US$/carat prices are
based on external market concensus forecasts.

(ii) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the Lesotho Loti, South African Rand and Australian dollar. Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity’s functional currency.

The Group’s sales are denominated in US$ which is the functional currency of the Group.

The currency sensitivity analysis below is based on the following assumptions:
– Differences resulting from the translation of financial statements of subsidiaries into the Group’s presentation

currency of US$, are not taken into consideration.
– The major currency exposures for the Group relate to the US$ and local currencies of subsidiaries. Foreign

currency exposures between two currencies where one is not the US$ are deemed insignificant to the Group
and have therefore been excluded from the sensitivity analysis. 

The analysis of the currency risk arises because of financial instruments denominated in a currency that is not
the functional currency of the relevant Group entity. The sensivity has been based on financial assets and
liabilities at 31 December 2007.

Sensitivity analysis
If the US$ had appreciated (depreciated) 10% against currencies significant to the Group at 31 December 2007,
income before taxation would have been US$4 million higher (lower) (31 December 2006: US$–). There would
be no effect on equity reserves other than those directly related to income statement movements.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

b) Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. At the time of taking new loans or borrowings management uses its judgement to
decide whether it believes that a fixed or variable rate borrowing would be more favourable to the Group over the
expected period until maturity.

An analysis has been prepared which demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating 
rate borrowings).

The interest rate sensitivity analyses are based on the following assumptions:
– All non-derivative financial instruments with fixed interest rate terms that are carried at amortised cost are

excluded from this analysis. This is because a change in market interest rates for such non-derivative financial
instruments would only affect income if these are measured at their fair value; and

– The Group does not have significant cash flow hedges related to interest rate risk. As such, movements that
would occur in equity as a result of a hypothetical change in interest rates at reporting date has been excluded
from this analysis.

Sensitivity analysis
If interest rates had increased or decreased by 100 basis points at 31 December 2007, there would have been no
material impact on profit. There would be no effect on equity reserves other than those directly related to income
statement movements.

c) Credit risk

The Group’s potential concentration of credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits with banks and other receivables.
The Group’s short term cash surpluses are placed with the banks that have investment grade ratings. The maximum
credit risk exposure relating to financial assets is represented by the carrying value as at the balance sheet dates. The
Group considers the credit standing of counterparties when making deposits to manage the credit risk.

Considering the nature of the Group's ultimate customers and the relevant terms and conditions entered into 
with such customers, the Group believes that credit risk is limited. Refer to Note 17, Receivables, for an analysis of
the credit risk of receivables. No other financial assets are impaired or past due and accordingly, no additional
analysis has been provided. No collateral is held in respect of the impaired receivables or receivables that are past
due but not impaired.

The maximum credit risk exposure relating to financial assets is represented by the carrying value as at the balance
sheet dates.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Group’s inability to obtain the funds 
it requires to comply with its commitments, including the inability 
to sell a financial asset quickly at a price close to its fair value.
Management manages the risk by maintaining sufficient cash, and
ensuring access to shareholding funding. This ensures flexibility in
maintaining business operations and maximises opportunities.

The Group has borrowing facilities in certain entities. The availability
of such facilities provides additional flexibility in minimising liquidity
risk and ensure the ongoing solvency of the Group.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial liabilities at 31 December 2007 based on contractual
undiscounted payments.

31 December 31 December
(US$’000) 2007 2006

Fixed interest rates
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
– Within one year 1 133 484
– One to five years 778 910
– Greater than five years 76 128

Total 1 987 1 522

Convertible instruments
– Within one year 961 1 036 
– One to five years 15 834 49 976
– Greater than five years – – 

Total 16 795 51 012

Other liabilities
– Within one year 1 563 1 515 
– One to five years – – 
– Greater than five years – – 

Total 1 563 1 515 

Floating interest rates
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
– Within one year 11 673 – 
– One to five years – – 
– Greater than five years – – 

Total 11 673 – 

Trade and other payables
– Within one year 64 995 21 736 
– One to five years 421 317 
– Greater than five years – – 

Total 65 416 22 053 

Bank overdrafts
– Within one year 1 702 –
– One to five years – –
– Greater than five years – – 

Total 1 702 –
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31 December
(US$’000) 2007

30. SHAREBASED PAYMENTS
The expense recognised for employee services received during the year
is shown in the following table:

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions charged to the
Income statement 19 531

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions capitalised 736

20 267 

The long term incentive plans are described below:

Employee Share Option Plan (‘ESOP’)
Certain key employees are entitled to a grant of options, under the ESOP
of the Company. The vesting of the options is dependent on employees
remaining in service for a prescribed period (normally three years) from
the date of grant. The fair value of share options granted is estimated at
the date of the grant using a Black Scholes simulation model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. It takes into account projected dividends and share price
fluctuation covariances of the Company.

There is a nil or nominal exercise price for the options granted at
Admission. The contractual life of the options is ten years and there 
are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group has no past practice of
cash settlement.

Executive Share Growth Plan (‘ESGP’)
The ESGP is a separate, and one-off, remuneration arrangement. Its
purpose is to reward very superior performance in the event that it was
achieved by the Group in the three-year period following Admission. 
As such, the vesting of awards under the ESGP are subject to very
demanding targets for share price growth, which was chosen as the
performance measure on the basis that participants will only be
rewarded if significant value has been created for the shareholders.

For the purposes of the performance criterion, the final share price 
will be the volume weighted average price of shares calculated over 
a 30-day period beginning 15 days prior to the third anniversary of
Admission (i.e. beginning 4 February 2010). No retesting of performance
will be allowed. 

Non-Executive Directors’ Share Awards
The non-Executive Directors were invited to subscribe for shares at
nominal value on terms set out in the prospectus. The non-Executive
Directors shall not be eligible to participate in the STIBS, ESOP or ESGP
or any other performance-related incentive arrangements which may
be introduced by the Company from time to time.



31 December
(US$’000) 2007

30. SHAREBASED PAYMENTS continued

Movements in the year

Employee Share Option Plan

The following table illustrates the number and movement in,
share options during the year (‘000):

Outstanding at beginning of year –
Granted during the year 343
Forfeited during the year (8) 
Exercised during the year (71) 

Balance at end of year 264 

Exercisable at end of year 42

The following table lists the inputs to the models used for the plan
for the year ended 31 December 2007:

Dividend yield (%) – 
Expected volatility (%) 22 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 5 
Expected life of option (years) 10 
Weighed average share price (US$) 18.51 
Model used Black Scholes 

The fair value of share options granted is estimated at the date of the
grant using a Black Scholes simulation model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted, projected
dividends, share price fluctuations, the expected volatility, the risk-free
interest rate, expected life of the option in years and the weighted
average share price of the Company.

The ESOP is an equity-settled plan and the fair value is measured at
the grant date.
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31 December
(US$’000) 2007

30. SHAREBASED PAYMENTS continued

Executive Share Growth Plan

The following table lists the inputs to the models used for the plan for
the year ended 31 December 2007:

Dividend yield (%) –
Expected volatility (%) 25 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 5 
Expected life of option (years) 2 
Weighed average share price (US$) 19.53 
Model used Monte Carlo 

The fair value of share options granted is estimated at the date of the
grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted, projected
dividends, share price fluctuations, the expected volatility, the risk-free
interest rate, expected life of the option in years and the weighted
average share price of the Company.

Non-Executive Directors’ Share Awards

Share Awards issued (’000)
Contracted for at beginning of year –
Contracted for during the year 1 013 
Shares issued during the year (434)

Balance unissued at end of the year 579 

Contracted for after year end 289

Weighed average share price (US$) 19.02

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares
between the reporting date and the date of completion of these
financial statements, other than those disclosed in Note 27, Post balance
sheet events.
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Admission Admission of the Company’s shares to trading on the LSE’s main market which occurred on
14 February 2007.

Alluvial Diamond deposits which are located in sediments transported by river or marine systems.

Alluvial Ventures Alluvial Ventures (Pty) Limited, the third party subcontractor at Letšeng Diamonds.

Audit Checking mechanisms to verify the veracity of results.

Bcm Bank cubic metres.

BDI Mining BDI Mining Corporation Limited.

BVI British Virgin Islands.

Carat Unit of weight for diamonds, 0.2g = one carat.

CAR Central African Republic.

Company or Gem Diamonds Gem Diamonds Limited.

cpht Carats per hundred tonnes, a measure of diamond grade.

CSR Corporate Social Responsibility.

Deposit Any sort of earth material that has accumulated through the action of wind, water, ice or
other agents.

Diamond value The estimated average value of diamonds from the deposit, quoted in US$/carat.

Diamondiferous Containing diamonds.

DMS Dense medium seperation.

DRC Democratic Republic of Congo.

Estimation The quantitative judgement of a variable.

Exploration Prospecting, sampling, mapping, diamond drilling and other work involved in the search 
for mineralisation.

Gope Exploration Gope Exploration Company (Proprietary) Limited

Grade The relative quantity or percentage of diamonds within the rock mass. Measured as carats
per hundred tonnes in this report.

Gravel An unconsolidated accumulation of particles larger than sand (pebbles or cobbles).

Group Gem Diamonds Limited and its subsidiaries and associates.

In situ In its original place, most often used to refer to the location of the mineral resources.

Indicated Resource That part of a diamond resource for which tonnage, densities, shape, physical characteristics,
grade and average diamond value can be estimated with a reasonable level of confidence.
It is based on exploration sampling and testing information gathered through appropriate
techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes. The
locations are too widely or inappropriately spaced to confirm geological and/or grade
continuity but are spaced closely enough for continuity to be assumed and sufficient
diamonds have been recovered to allow a confident estimate of average diamond value.

Inferred Resource That part of a diamond resource for which tonnage, grade and average diamond value can
be estimated with a low level of confidence. It is inferred from geological evidence and
assumed but not verified by geological and/or grade continuity and a sufficiently large
diamond parcel is not available to ensure reasonable representation of the diamond
assortment. It is based on information gathered through appropriate techniques from
locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes that may be limited or of
uncertain quality and reliability.

IPO Initial Public Offering. 

Kimberley Diamonds Kimberley Diamond Company NL. 

Kimberlite An ultra basic rock defined as a porphyritic alkalic peridotite containing phenocrysts of
olivine and phlogopite. Occurs as dykes or as characteristically carrot-shaped pipes.

KPI Key Performance Indicator.

Lamproite Highly alkaline volcanic or sub volcanic rock characterised by the presence of unusual
potassium and titanium materials. Mafic and ultramafic lamproites may host diamonds.

Letšeng Diamonds Letšeng Diamonds (Pty) Limited.
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Lesotho The Kingdom of Lesotho.

Life of Mine or LoM Expected duration of time that it will take to extract accessible material.

LSE London Stock Exchange.

LTIFR Lost time injury frequency rate.

Mineral Reserve Is the economically mineable material derived from a Measured and/or Indicated Mineral
Resource. It is inclusive of diluting materials and allows for losses that Reserves to denote
progressively increasing uncertainty in their recoverability. Proved Reserve can be categorised
as Developed or Undeveloped.

Mineral Resource A concentration of material of economic interest in or on the Earth’s crust in such form,
quality and quantity that there are reasonable and realistic prospects for eventual economic
extraction.  The location, quantity, grade, continuity and other geological characteristics of
a Mineral Resource are known, estimated from specific geological evidence and knowledge,
or interpreted from a well constrained and portrayed geological model.  Mineral Resources
are subdivided, in order of increasing confidence in respect of geoscientific evidence, into
Inferred, Indicated and Measured categories.

A deposit is a concentration of material of possible economic interest in, on or near the
Earth’s crust.  Portions of a deposit that do not have reasonable and realistic prospects for
eventual economic extraction must not be included in a Mineral resource.

Mtpa Millions of tonnes per annum.

Orebody A continuous well defined mass of material of sufficient ore content to make extraction
economically feasible.

Overburden The alluvium and rock that must be removed in order to expose an ore deposit.

Parcel A collection of diamonds of various sizes made available for sale as a single package.

Primary deposit With reference to the deposition of diamonds, these deposits include kimberlite pipes,
dykes, blows and fissures as well as lamproites. Contrasted with alluvial.

Probable reserves Is the economically mineable material derived from a Measured and/or Indicated Diamond
Resource. It is estimated with a lower level of confidence than a Proved Reserve. It is inclusive
of diluting materials and allows for losses that may occur when the material is mined.
Appropriate assessments, which may include feasibility studies, have been carried out,
including consideration of, and modification by, realistically assumed mining, metallurgical,
economic, marketing, legal, environmental, social and Governmental factors. These
assessments demonstrate at the time of reporting that extraction is reasonably justified.

Prospectus The initial public offering prospectus in relation to the Company dated 14 February 2007.

Recovered grade The actual grade of ore realised after the mining and treatment process.

Sample The removal of a small amount of rock pertaining to the deposit which is used to estimate
the grade of the deposit and other geological parameters. 

Kimberlite samples for the recovery of diamonds are usually several hundred tonnes 
per sample.

Sampling Taking small pieces of rock at intervals along exposed mineralisation for assay (to determine
the mineral content). Bulk samples in the case of kimberlites.

Sedimentary Formed by the deposition of solid fragmental or chemical material that originates from
weathering of rocks and is transported from a source to a site of deposition.

Stockpile A store of unprocessed ore or marginal grade material.

Stone size Average size of the diamonds, expressed as carats/stone.

Stripping Removal of waste overburden covering the mineral deposit.

Stripping ratio Ratio of ore rock to waste rock.

Tonnage Quantities where the tonne is an appropriate unit of measure. Typically used to measure
reserves of metal-bearing material in-situ or quantities of ore and waste material mined,
transported or milled.

Tonne Metric Ton.

Tph Tonnes per hour, a measure of processing capacity at a processing plant.

GLOSSARY continued
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